Loma Linda University

TheScholarsRepository@LLU: Digital Archive of Research, Scholarship & Creative Works

Loma Linda University Electronic Theses, Dissertations & Projects

6-1994

Mechanism of Mitogenic Action of Aluminum Ion on Bone Cells : Potential Involvement of the Insulin-Like Growth Factor Regulatory System

Aera Yoo

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarsrepository.llu.edu/etd

Part of the Biochemistry Commons

Recommended Citation

Yoo, Aera, "Mechanism of Mitogenic Action of Aluminum Ion on Bone Cells : Potential Involvement of the Insulin-Like Growth Factor Regulatory System" (1994). *Loma Linda University Electronic Theses, Dissertations & Projects*. 971. https://scholarsrepository.llu.edu/etd/971

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by TheScholarsRepository@LLU: Digital Archive of Research, Scholarship & Creative Works. It has been accepted for inclusion in Loma Linda University Electronic Theses, Dissertations & Projects by an authorized administrator of TheScholarsRepository@LLU: Digital Archive of Research, Scholarship & Creative Works. For more information, please contact scholarsrepository@llu.edu.

ABSTRACT

MECHANISM OF MITOGENIC ACTION OF ALUMINUM ION ON BONE CELLS: POTENTIAL INVOLVEMENT OF THE INSULIN-LIKE GROWTH FACTOR REGULATORY SYSTEM.

by

Aera Yoo

Micromolar concentrations of aluminum ion (oxidation state of 3^+) consistently stimulated [³H]thymidine incorporation into cell DNA and increased cellular alkaline phosphatase activity (an osteoblastic differentiation marker) in osteoblast-like cells of chicken and human origin. Although biphasic, dose-dependent stimulations were highly reproducible, the maximal stimulatory dose varied among different experiments. Mitogenic doses of aluminum ion also stimulated collagen synthesis in cultured human osteosarcoma TE85 cells. In addition, the same mitogenic concentrations of aluminum ion enhanced the 1,25 dihydroxyvitamin D₃-dependent stimulation of osteocalcin secretion. Together, these findings indicate that aluminum at micromolar concentrations, stimulates the proliferation, differentiation, and activity of human osteoblastic-line cells in vitro. With respect to the mechanism of its mitogenic action, the mitogenic concentrations of aluminum ion did not stimulate cAMP production in human osteosarcoma TE85 cells, indicating that the mechanism of aluminum ion does not involve cAMP. Additional studies have also revealed that the mitogenic activity of aluminum ion is different from that of fluoride because (a) unlike fluoride, the mitogenic action of aluminum was unaffected by culture medium changes (i.e., it was not dependent on the presence of essential factors in the cell-conditioned media);

(b) unlike fluoride, the mitogenic action of aluminum was not specific for bone cells; and (c) interaction studies with fluoride revealed that aluminum and fluoride did not share the same rate-limiting step(s) for their effects in stimulating the proliferation of osteoblastic-like cells. To test the additional hypothesis that the mitogenic action of aluminum ion is mediated through the insulin-like growth factor (IGF) regulatory system, the effects of mitogenic concentrations of aluminum on IGF-I and IGF-II production were evaluated. TE85 cells treated with aluminum ion for 48 hours showed biphasic stimulation of the synthesis/secretion of IGF-I and IGF-II into the conditioned medium (CM). The addition of IGFBP-4, an inhibitory IGF binding protein, significantly reduced the effect of aluminum to stimulate [³H]thymidine incorporation, supporting the hypothesis that the mitogenic action of aluminum was mediated by an increase in IGF production. Western ligand blot analysis revealed that mitogenic concentrations of aluminum ion also inhibited the secretion of IGF binding proteins, particularly the inhibitory IGFBP-4, an action which could lead to the potentiation of the overall activity of IGFs. Based on these findings, it is concluded that aluminum ion, at micromolar concentrations, acts directly on human bone cells to stimulate their proliferation and differentiation by a mechanism that involves increase in the production and activity of IGFs in bone cells.

2

UNIVERSITY LIBRARY LOMA LINDA, CALIEORNIA

LOMA LINDA UNIVERSITY

Graduate School

MECHANISM OF MITOGENIC ACTION OF ALUMINUM ION ON BONE CELLS: POTENTIAL INVOLVEMENT OF THE INSULIN-LIKE GROWTH FACTOR REGULATORY SYSTEM.

by

Aera Yoo

A Thesis in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Master of Science in Biochemistry

June 1994

Each person whose signature appears below certifies that this thesis in their opinion is adequate, in scope and quality, as a thesis for the degree Master of Science.

my Willia , Chairperson

K.-H. William Lau, Associate Professor of Medicine/Biochemistry

John R. Farley, Professor of Medicine/Biochemistry

E. Clifford Herrmann, Associate Professor of Biochemistry

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to impart my sincere gratitude to Dr. K.-H. William Lau for his guidance and advocation thoughout this entire project and training at Loma Linda University. I would also like to express my earnest appreciation to Dr. John R. Farley for his advice on this thesis and his moral support. I would like to thank Dr. Clifford Herrmann for his kindness to be a member of my guidance committee despite having busy schedule, and for his valuable criticism of this thesis. Ultimately, I would like to dedicate this work to my beloved mother Mrs. K.-D. Chang, my late father Mr. S.-H. Yoo, and my uncle Mr. A. J. Bouchard for their support, patience, and love.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES LIST OF TABLES LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS			i ii
CHAP	TER 1:	BACKGROUND	
	I.	Cellular toxicity of high concentrations of aluminum ion 1	
	II.	Effects of aluminum accumulation on mineralization 2	
	III.	Osteogenic effects of low concentrations of aluminum ion	
	IV.	Potential mechanism of action of aluminum ion on cell metabolism	
		1. Biologically active species of aluminum62. Cellular uptake of aluminum73. Intracellular actions of aluminum84. Interaction of aluminum ion with G protein9	
	V.	Mitogenic action of fluoride 11	L
	VI.	Potential involvement of local bone cell production of growth factors in the osteogenic action of aluminum	5
	VII.	Insulin-like growth factor regulatory system and bone cell proliferation	5
	VIII.	Human TE85 osteosarcoma cells as a model system for human osteoblasts	3
CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS			
	I.	Materials 20)
	II.	Methods 21	L
		1. Cell culture212. Cell DNA synthesis assay223. Cell alkaline phosphatase activity assay224. Collagen synthesis assay235. cAMP assay236. Osteocalcin production assay247. IGF assays258. Western ligand blotting of IGFBPs259. Statistical methods26	122334555

CHAPTER 3: RESULTS

	I.	Effects of aluminum ion on bone cell DNA synthesis and Alkaline phosphatase activity	
	II.	Stimulation of collagen synthesis by mitogenic doses of aluminum	
	III.	Effects of mitogenic doses of aluminum ion on osteocalcin production	
	IV.	Effect of medium change on the mitogenic activity of aluminum ion	
	V.	Interaction of fluoride and aluminum on bone cell proliferation	
	VI.	Effects of aluminum on cAMP production 48	
	VII.	Effects of aluminum ion on IGF's release from TE85 cells	
	VIII.	Effects of an inhibitory IGF binding protein (<i>i.e.</i> , IGFBP-4) on the aluminum ion-dependent stimulation of cell proliferation of TE85 cells	
	IX.	Effects of aluminum ion on secretion of IGFBPs by human bone cells	
CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION			
CHAP	TER 5:	LITERATURE CITED	

v

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure		Page
1.	Stimulation of [³ H]thymidine incorporation and cellular alkaline phosphatase activity in cultured embryonic chicken calvarial cells by aluminum sulfate	28
2.	Stimulation of [³ H]thymidine incorporation and cell alkaline phosphatase activity in monolayer cultures of human TE85 osteosarcoma cells and in normal human osteoblasts by aluminum sulfate	30
3.	Cell specificity of the mitogenic activity of aluminum ion	32
4.	Stimulation of the proliferation of human TE85 osteosarcoma cells by aluminum sulfate	34
5.	Effects of aluminum ion on basal and 1,25 dihydroxyvitamin D_3 -stimulated osteocalcin secretion and cellular alkaline phosphatase specific activity in normal human osteoblasts	38
6.	Evidence that the stimulation of [³ H]thymidine incorporation and of cellular alkaline phosphatase specific activity of aluminum ion on human TE85 osteosarcoma cells is not dependent on a factor(s) in conditioned medium	41
7.	Interaction of the mitogenic activity of aluminum and fluoride on human TE85 osteosarcoma cells	44
8.	Analysis of interaction between fluoride and aluminum with a plot analogous to the Lineweaver-Burk kinetic plot	46
9.	Effects of aluminum ion on the secretion of IGFs by human TE85 osteosarcoma cells	50
10.	Effect of IGFBP-4 on the mitogenic activity of aluminum ion on human TE85 osteosarcoma cells	53
11.	Effect of aluminum ion on the secretion of IGFBPs into CM by human TE85 osteosarcoma cells	55

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1.	Aluminum ion stimulates collagen synthesis by human TE85 osteosarcoma cells <i>in vitro</i>	37
2.	Effect of the mitogenic concentrations of aluminum on cAMP production by human TE85 osteosarcoma cells	49

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Adenosine 5'-triphosphate
Adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate
Curie
Conditioned medium
Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium
Deoxyribonucleic acid
Fibroblast-derived growth factor
Guanosine 5'-triphosphatase-activating protein
Guanosine 5'-diphosphate
Guanosine 5'-triphosphate
Insulin-like growth factor
Insulin-like growth factor binding protein
Kilodalton
Michaelis constant
Messenger ribonucleic acid
Micromolar
Platelet-derived growth factor
p-Nitrophenyl phosphate
Parathyroid hormone
Radioimmunoassay
Radioreceptor assay
Sodium dodecyl sulfate
Transforming growth factor beta
Maximum velocity

CHAPTER 1: BACKGROUND

I. Cellular toxicity of high concentrations of aluminum ion.

Historically, aluminum, a ubiquitous heavy metal, was considered nontoxic largely because the gastrointestinal tract was believed to act as an effective barrier to its entry, most of the metal ingested being excreted in the feces. For this reason, aluminum-containing antacids given to patients with peptic ulcers were presumed to be innocuous. However, it is now well documented that some aluminum is absorbed during therapy with this type of compounds, and a significant amount of aluminum ion can be accumulated in various tissues after prolonged administration of aluminum ion. In this regard, high levels of aluminum have been found in serum and various organs of chronic renal failure patients as a consequence of either the administration of aluminum hydroxide (1-3) or the presence of this compound in dialysis fluid (4-6).

Like other heavy metals, aluminum ion is not biologically inert, and the toxicity of high concentrations of aluminum ion in biology has been well documented (7). For example, aluminum has been implicated as the etiologic agent in the encephalopathy observed in patients with chronic renal failure who are treated by long-term hemodialysis with aluminum-rich dialysate (8). It has also been considered a contributing factor to the pathogenesis of several neurological disorders (*e.g.*, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, presenile dementia, *etc.*) of environmental etiology (9,10). Furthermore, aluminum deposits have also been found in brains of Alzheimer's disease patients, which led to the speculation that the accumulation of aluminum ion in the brain may be associated with the development of Alzheimer's disease (11). While the proposal for an etiological role of aluminum in Alzheimer's type senile dementia is controversial (9,11-13), evidence for the neurotoxicity of the accumulation of high concentrations of aluminum in brain tissues is compelling.

1

In addition to its neurotoxic effects, aluminum loading has also been implicated as an important contributing factor in the development of non-iron-deficient anemia in patients with chronic renal failure (14,15). Supporting evidence for this conclusion is that hemoglobin levels in these patients fall with continued aluminum exposure (14,16) and rise when the body burden of aluminum is decreased by therapy with deferoxamine [a specific chelator for aluminum ion] (17,18) or by dialysis against aluminum-free solutions (14,15). Furthermore, it has been shown that aluminum ion inhibited erythropoiesis (19) by binding tightly to transferrin (20,21), an action which prevented the binding and transport of iron to the marrow for hemoglobin synthesis. Accordingly, aluminum intoxication is an important cause of morbidity and mortality in hemodialysis patients (22).

II. Effects of aluminum accumulation on mineralization.

Because the mineral present in bone (*i.e.*, hydroxyapatite) has a high affinity for heavy metals, including aluminum ion, bone is a major target tissue for aluminum deposition. This expectation is consistent with the findings that aluminum is selectively deposited at the mineralization front and along trabecular bone surfaces (23,24). Once deposited in bone matrix, aluminum is removed very slowly (25). Thus, prolonged treatment with aluminum should lead to accumulation of high aluminum concentrations in bones, and this is supported by findings that aluminum administration in animals and humans causes elevated aluminum content in bone matrix (26-29).

Aluminum toxicity to bone and bone cells has been widely reported. In this regard, renal osteodystrophy is a universal complication in patients with chronic renal failure. This bone disease comprises a heterogeneous group of disorders of diverse pathophysiology. Numerous studies have previously established that the vast majority of patients with uremia exhibit osteitis fibrosa, a disease characterized by evidence of increased bone resorption, peritrabecular fibrosis, and a normal or accelerated rate of

bone formation (30). However, osteomalacia and aplastic bone disease, unique bone abnormalities marked by a low rate of bone turnover, are the most prevalent complications in patients with chronic renal failure and, particularly, those who are dialysis dependent. It has been suggested that aluminum may be the etiologic agent in the pathogenesis of this osteomalacia (31-33). Histological studies have shown that aluminum-induced osteomalacia is accompanied with impaired mineralization and, in some cases, with decreased bone matrix formation (26,35). The aluminum-associated osteomalacia differs from "classical" vitamin D-deficiency osteomalacia in that patients have an increased incidence of bone fractures, are resistant to treatment with even large doses of vitamin D, and seldom have secondary hyperparathyroidism (22). Accordingly, the aluminum-associated osteomalacia has been a significant problem in the management of renal failure patients.

While the cause and treatment for vitamin D-resistant osteomalacia has been extensively investigated, the mechanism by which aluminum induces osteomalacia is not well understood. Because aluminum is found in the areas corresponding to the mineralization front (24,35), it has been thought that aluminum could physically and/or chemically interfere directly with the normal mineralization process (36), which in turn, would lead to severe osteomalacia (23,27,32). However, since osteoblasts are responsible for bone matrix synthesis, it has also been suggested that aluminum ion may act to affect the proliferation and/or activity of osteoblasts, which would lead to a reduction in the rate of bone matrix formation (37). In addition, aluminum accumulation is associated with reduced PTH secretion, which could also cause a reduction in osteoblastic activity (38). These observations raise the interesting possibility that an aluminum-induced reduction in serum PTH may be responsible for some of the effects of aluminum in the development of osteomalacia. On the other hand, in some uremic patients who had high bone aluminum content and also high serum PTH levels, no osteomalacia was observed, whereas they all showed increased

osteoclastic resorption (*i.e.*, a well known characteristic of

hyperparathyroidism) (39,40). Thus, these findings are in support of a key role for PTH deficiency in aluminum-associated osteomalacia, but they are in contradication to the proposal of a direct inhibition of the mineralization process by aluminum. Moreover, it is now clear from histomorphometric studies that the aluminum-dependent decrease in osteoblastic activity cannot be explained by reductions in PTH levels alone (26). It has also been shown with isolated perfused tibia that bones of aluminum treated dogs are resistant to the effects of PTH, suggesting that aluminum treated bones may also have defects in the responsiveness to PTH (41). Consequently, while PTH deficiency may be important in aluminum-associated osteomalacia, the exact cause is unclear and remains controversial.

III. Osteogenic effects of low concentrations of aluminum ion.

While evidence in the literature indicates that the accumulation of high concentrations of aluminum in bone matrix of chronic renal failure patients is harmful to skeletal metabolism, there is evidence that low concentrations of aluminum may actually increase bone formation. In this regard, Quarles and Drezner have recently shown that short term (8-16 weeks) administration of aluminum to normal adult dogs induced *de novo* bone formation within the marrow cavity of the iliac crest (42) [as indicated by significant increases in histomorphometric bone formation parameters] and increased bone density (measured by Quantitative Computed Tomography) and histomorphometric bone formation parameters in thoracic and lumbar vertebrae (43,44). These investigators also demonstrated that the osteogenic effects of aluminum appeared to be dependent on PTH, since the osteogenic effects of aluminum were reduced in parathyroidectomized dogs (44). Therefore, these findings raise the interesting possibility that low concentrations of aluminum ion might have a stimulatory effect on osteoblasts, and thereby increase bone formation. In support of this

hypothesis are the previous findings that: a) administration of aluminum to normal dogs induced a transient increase in osteoblastic activity and increased osteoblast numbers (41), and b) short term treatment of beagle dogs with aluminum increased bone collagen synthesis (42).

The in vivo findings in intact adult dogs differ from previous findings of aluminum-induced osseous events in various animal models which indicated that toxic effects, such as abnormal mineralization and decreased bone formation, are the sole outcomes of aluminum administration (23-29). The reason for the discrepancies is not clear. However, there are two potential explanations. First, the length of aluminum administration (*i.e.*, 8-16 weeks) in these dog studies was much shorter than most previous studies (e.g., 1-3 years) of aluminum-induced osteomalacia. Furthermore, the doses of aluminum used in the recent dog studies (*i.e.*, 1-1.25 mg/kg, three times per week) were also lower than those of most of the previous animal studies (i.e., 5-10 mg/kg/day). Consequently, the total amount of aluminum exposure was much lower in the recent dog studies than the previous animal studies. Second, the dogs used in these studies were healthy with normal kidney functions, whereas most previous studies employed uremic animals. Accordingly, we can hypothesize that these dogs were able to excrete most of the absorbed aluminum through normal kidney function, and consistent with this hypothesis, the histomorphometric studies showed that the amount of stainable bone matrix aluminum in the dogs was at least 10-fold lower than that seen in bone matrix of patients with chronic renal failure (42). Based on these observations, we have further hypothesized that while high concentrations of aluminum are harmful to bone cell metabolism, low concentrations of aluminum could stimulate bone cell proliferation, and/or differentiation and activity. The biphasic response (*i.e.*, stimulatory at low doses and inhibitory at high doses) of bone cells to aluminum is not unique since the mitogenic actions of various bone cell effectors (e.g., fluoride, IGFs,PTH, etc.) are also biphasic in nature (45-47).

In order to fully appreciate the effects of aluminum on bone cell metabolism, it is important that we understand both the osteogenic effects of low concentrations of aluminum and the toxic effects of high doses of aluminum. An understanding of how low concentrations of aluminum can stimulate bone cell proliferation and/or differentiation could also produce invaluable insights into how bone cell proliferation and/or differentiation is regulated. It should be noted that the *in vivo* dog studies did not demonstrate whether the anabolic effect of short term aluminum treatment was mediated through direct action of the cation on bone cells, or indirectly (e.g., through effects on systemic hormones). However, it has previously been reported that low concentrations (*i.e.*, μ M) of aluminum ion could stimulate the proliferation of mouse lens epithelial cells and Swiss 3T3K skin fibroblasts in vitro (48,49). Furthermore, it has recently been shown that micromolar concentrations of aluminum ion stimulated the proliferation of mouse MC3T3-E1 cells by inducing a transition from the G₀ to the S phase of the cell cycle (50). Accordingly, it is anticipated that aluminum ion may also be a bone cell mitogen which can be osteogenic, because it acts directly on osteoblasts to affect their proliferation, differentiation, and activity. Consequently, the central theme of this thesis project was to evaluate the osteogenic effects of low doses of aluminum on human bone cells in vitro.

IV. Potential mechanisms of aluminum ion on cell metabolism.

1. <u>Biologically active species of aluminum</u>.

In order to understand the biological activity of aluminum in cells, it is necessary to understand some aspects of the chemistry of aluminum. The chemistry of aluminum in biology is dominated by its ligation by oxygen-based functional groups, principally through aluminum substitution for competitive cations, of which magnesium is considered the most biologically relevant (51). Aluminum reacts via the hexa-aqua trivalent species Al³⁺, and it is the concentration of this species, but not the total

6

aluminum concentration, that is believed to be responsible for the biological activity of aluminum (52). The pH has profound effects on the free Al^{3+} concentration (53). For example, in the absence of all other competing ligands, the solubility of amorphous aluminum hydroxide controls the free Al^{3+} concentration at pH 6.0. When the pH is raised to 7.4 the control of the concentration of free $A1^{3+}$ switches to the aluminate species, Al(OH), the predominant aluminum species at alkaline pH. In the physiological milieu (pH in the range 6.5-7.4), citrate (found commonly at serum concentrations of 0.1 mM) is a likely pre-eminent intracellular oxygen-based ligand and will bind aluminum to decrease the cellular free Al^{3+} concentration (54). In the absence of citrate, or towards the more acidic pH of the physiological milieu, inorganic phosphate (52) or ATP (55) [both found at intracellular concentrations of about 10 mM] similarly reduce the free aluminum concentration toward femtomolar levels. Other influencing factors include the relative concentrations of competitive anions (e.g.,hydroxide, fluoride, silicate, inorganic phosphate, etc.) and cations (e.g., calcium, magnesium, manganese, zinc, iron, etc.), the intrinsic binding strength of any ligand for aluminum and the comparative reaction kinetics (53). The biological reactivity of aluminum cannot simply be predicted on the basis of a hierarchy of known aluminumligand binding constants. It is the combination of the aforementioned influences which together determine the bioavailability and hence biological effects of aluminum (53).

2. <u>Cellular uptake of aluminum</u>.

High electropositivity, large solvation shells and a concomitant tendency toward hydrogen bonding are characteristics of the free aluminum species thought to preclude the passive diffusion of aluminum through biological membranes. However, it is now clear that aluminum is found intracellularly, even though the mechanism for its cellular uptake is not well understood. Three potential mechanisms by which aluminum permeates biological membranes and accumulates intracellularly have been proposed. First is passive diffusion of uncharged aluminum complexes, e.g., AlF₃ (56), and aluminum-glutamate (57). Second is passive diffusion of aluminum species mediated through aluminum binding to membrane-orientated transport proteins (58) and aluminum effects on membrane fluidity (59). In this regard, it has been shown that cellular uptake of aluminum is significantly enhanced by the presence of transferrin, the principal iron-carrying protein in physiological milieu (60-62). Aluminum-transferrin is believed to follow the iron transport route into cells (62), transferrin-mediated endocytosis (60), although on internalization, aluminum-transferrin, unlike iron-transferrin, is not reduced to release the bound metal and continue the transferrin cycle. Third is adsorption-mediated endocytosis (56). Accordingly, aluminum could be taken up intracellularly into cells by any one or all of these mechanisms.

3. Intracellular actions of aluminum.

There is a large body of evidence that aluminum acts intracellularly to exert its biological effects (7,63). However, the significance of such findings at the whole cell, tissue or organism level remains largely unknown. The physico-chemistry of aluminum predicts higher binding strengths and slower reaction kinetics than, for example, the universally important divalent metal ions calcium and magnesium. It is not surprising, therefore, to find that aluminum can act as a potent inhibitor of many enzymes and/or biological processes by competing with other cations, *e.g.*, calcium and magnesium. In this regard, it has been demonstrated that aluminum inhibited several enzyme activities and cellular processes *in vitro*. For example: it has been shown that aluminum ions are required for inhibition of hepatic microsomal glucose-6-phosphatase by sodium fluoride (64), and that fluoroaluminate also inhibited the inactivation and transformation of glucocorticoid receptor (65). In addition, incubation of rat calvaria with aluminum for 24 hours significantly reduced the cellular alkaline and acid phosphatase activities activities (66). However, the inhibitory effects of aluminum on bone phosphatases

were probably not due to direct inhibition of the enzyme activities by aluminum since aluminum, at concentrations of up to 1 mM, did not significantly affect the activity of human osteoblastic alkaline phosphatase or acid phosphatase *in vitro* (Yoo and Lau, unpublished observations). On the other hand, fluoroaluminate has also been shown to have stimulatory effects on numerous cellular processes through its activation of G proteins (67-70).

The intracellular response to an aluminum challenge has not received a great deal of attention until recently. Even then, the types of cellular models studied are diverse and include: synaptosomes (71), hepatocytes (72), neuroblastoma cells (73), liver microsomes (74), pancreatic acinar cells (75), astrocytes (76), parotid acini (77), salt-secreting cells (78), barnacle muscle fibres (79), heart tissue (80), and osteoblasts (50,81). The comparative value of much of this research is compromised by the lack of consensus in the application of exposure systems and (in particular) culture conditions. Only rarely are the influences on aluminum binding and uptake by cells taken into account in the experimental design. Thus, the results of these studies are ambiguous for the most part. On the other hand, while the biological effects of aluminum in each of these systems appeared different, these studies have demonstrated that the intracellular effects of aluminum were consistently documented as stimulatory at low concentrations becoming inhibitory with increasing aluminum concentration. Consequently, these findings are supportive of our contention that aluminum at low concentrations can increase bone cell proliferation and bone formation.

4. <u>Interaction of aluminum ion with G proteins</u>.

The majority of reported intracellular responses to aluminum have been associated with second messenger systems, the central components in the control mechanisms of many (and possibly all) cells (82). For example, it has been shown that aluminum, at 10 μ M, stimulated the production of calcium transients in agoniststimulated single rat hepatocytes (72). The mechanism by which aluminum stimulated calcium transients appeared to involve the inositol phosphate signaling pathway (72). Furthermore, a recent report (83) has demonstrated that oral aluminum consumption alters *in vitro* protein phosphorylation and protein kinase C activity in rat brain, and suggested that alteration of protein phosphorylation may be responsible for the neurotoxic effects of aluminum over exposure. Inhibitory effects of aluminum on cellular processes mediated through second messenger systems are also documented in extracellular aluminum challenges on whole cell preparations. For example, aluminum inhibits the agonist-stimulated hydrolysis of phosphoinositides and the incorporation of inositol into phospholipids (71) in rat cortical slices, the fast and slow phases of voltage-dependent Ca²⁺ uptake in synaptosomes (84), and causes the premature onset of deterioration of electrophysiological properties in differentiated neuroblastoma cells (73). Similarly, the disruption of cAMP-mediated phosphorylation of Ca²⁺ and/or K⁺ channels is implicated in recent research showing an aluminum-induced decrease in maximum inward calcium currents in heart tissue of both rabbits and frogs (80).

There is evidence that aluminum affects the second messenger systems (*e.g.*, phosphoinositide pathway, cAMP pathway) that involve the G proteins (53,72). In this regard, aluminum is known to combine with fluoride to form fluoroaluminate (AlF_4) , which has been shown to be a potent activator of G_s (85), which in turn activates adenylate cyclase to increase cellular production of cAMP (86). Similarly, fluoroaluminate has also been shown to activate G_i , which is associated with phospholipase C and D activation (87,88), and in turn leads to stimulation of phosphoinositide breakdown. The resulting products, phosphoinositides and diacylglycerol, subsequently increase intracellular calcium mobilization (82) and activation of protein kinase C (82), respectively. In this regard, Sternweis and Gilman (86) have reported that Al^{3+} was required for fluoride to activate G_s , G_i , and transducin. It has also been demonstrated that fluoroaluminate substituted for the

gamma-phosphate of GTP (85). This conclusion comes from the fact that there are structural similarities between fluoroaluminate and phosphate group. Both fluoroaluminate and phosphate are tetrahedral, the atomic sizes of phosphorus and aluminum are similar, fluorine and oxygen have the same van der Waals radii of 1.35 Å, and the bond lengths for aluminum-fluorine and phosphorus-oxygen are approximately the same. Thus, it is reasonable to conclude that fluoroaluminate can act as a potent phosphate analog in biological systems.

Perhaps the most compelling evidence to-date that points toward the involvement of G protein systems in the biological action of aluminum is the finding that aluminum treatment inhibited the activation of the signal-transducing G protein transducin (89), and that aluminum disrupted the GTP-GDP exchange activity of a G protein in the stimulation of Na⁺ efflux in single barnacle muscle fibres (79). On the other hand, while the strong interaction between fluoroaluminate and the G proteins may be, in part, responsible for the observed biological effects of aluminum, there is evidence that is inconsistent with the involvement of the G proteins. For example, it has been shown that aluminum did not bind to the "model" G protein, elongation factor Tu-GDP, although those studies were complicated by the presence of millimolar concentrations of fluoride (90,91). In addition, the mitogenic effect of aluminum is abolished in cells pretreated with pertussis toxin (50), suggesting that aluminuminduced mitogenesis is probably not mediated through a G protein system. Consequently, while evidence for the involvement of the G proteins in the biological actions of aluminum is strong, that mechanism may not account for all of the biological effects of aluminum.

V. Mitogenic action of fluoride.

The facts that aluminum ion forms tight complexes with fluoride, and that the biological action of aluminum may be mediated through the formation of

fluoroaluminate, are important and could be clinically relevant as demonstrated by previous investigations that fluoride is one of the most effective single agents currently available for increasing bone density in osteoporotic spines (92-94), and that fluoride is a bone cell specific mitogen *in vitro* (47,95). Accordingly, if the hypothesis that the biological effect of aluminum is mediated through the formation of fluoroaluminate is indeed true, then the understanding of the mechanism of aluminum to stimulate bone cell proliferation and differentiation may yield important information as to how fluoride exerts its osteogenic effect. In this regard, a direct comparison between the mitogenic action of fluoride and that of aluminum on bone cells seems warranted as it would disclose information regarding whether fluoride and aluminum act through similar mechanisms. Thus a major objective of this thesis work was to compare the mitogenic action of aluminum on human bone cells to that of fluoride on the same cells *in vitro*. However, in order to have a better appreciation of the potential relationship (or the lack thereof) between aluminum and fluoride on bone cell proliferation, a brief discussion on the current knowledge of the osteogenic action of fluoride would be appropriate.

Previous histomorphometric studies indicate that fluoride increases bone density by stimulating osteoblastic proliferation (93). The bone cell mitogenic activity of fluoride has been confirmed *in vitro* by several laboratories, including ours (47,95-98). Although the exact mechanism of the mitogenic action of fluoride is not known at the present time, it is now clear that the mitogenic action of fluoride exhibits the following characteristics: a) mitogenic effect of fluoride is specific for bone and, perhaps, kidney cells (95,99), b) the effective mitogenic concentrations of fluoride are in the micromolar range (47,95,100), c) fluoride-induced osteoblast proliferation is dependent on the presence of a growth factor whose receptor is a tyrosyl kinase (101), d) mitogenic activity of fluoride can be potentiated by inorganic phosphate (101), and e) fluoride synergizes with growth factors whose receptor is a tyrosyl kinase to increase osteoblastic proliferation (100,101). These characteristics are unique for fluoride-

12

induced mitogenesis. Accordingly, if the aluminum-induced osteogenesis is mediated through fluoride, the *in vitro* mitogenic activity of aluminum should show the same properties as fluoride.

With respect to the potential mechanism of action of fluoride on bone cells, Lau and coworkers have purified an acid phosphatase from osteoblasts, which displayed phosphotyrosyl protein phosphatase activity at neutral pH (102,103). These investigators have provided a large body of circumstantial evidence supporting the notion that this nonlysosomal osteoblastic acid phosphatase may function as a physiological phosphotyrosyl protein phosphatase in bone cells (102,103). A unique property of this enzyme is its inhibition by mitogenic concentrations (*i.e.*, micromolar) of fluoride. Because tyrosyl phosphorylation is closely associated with cell proliferation (104), and because increased tyrosyl phosphorylation can also be achieved by an inhibition of phosphotyrosyl protein dephosphorylation (105,106), it has been hypothesized that the mitogenic action of fluoride on bone cells may be mediated by a direct inhibition of the fluoride-sensitive phosphotyrosyl protein phosphatase activity (100). This hypothesis assumes: a) that the increase in tyrosyl protein phosphorylation is responsible for the stimulation in bone cell proliferation, b) that the binding of a growth factor (e.g., IGF-I) to its membrane receptor on osteoblasts activates the intrinsic tyrosyl kinase activity of the receptor, and thereby stimulates the phosphorylation of the key mitogenic signaling proteins at the tyrosyl residues, which eventually leads to an increase in osteoblast proliferation, c) that this mitogenic signal should be terminated by the dephosphorylation reaction catalyzed by the fluoridesensitive phosphotyrosyl protein phosphatases, and d) that the action of fluoride is to inhibit the activity of this phosphotyrosyl protein phosphatase and prolongs the mitogenic signal, resulting in a stimulation of osteoblast proliferation.

The following is a brief enumeration of the evidence that supports the concept that the mitogenic action of F is mediated by inhibition of fluoride-sensitive

phosphotyrosyl protein phosphatase: First, the mitogenic dose of fluoride is very low compared to fluoride doses that affect other biological systems, and yet it is very similar to the dose that is required for inhibition of this phosphatase activity and for increased tyrosyl phosphorylation in human bone cells (100,107). Second, other inhibitors of this phosphotyrosyl protein phosphatase, such as vanadate and molybdate are, like fluoride, mitogens for bone cells at concentrations that inhibit the F-sensitive phosphotyrosyl protein phosphatase activity (100,108). Moreover, the mitogenic effect of vanadate is identical to the effect of fluoride in that it requires the presence of a skeletal growth factor (108). Third, fluoride treatment of normal bone cells leads to a net increase in protein phosphorylation (100). Fourth, fluoride stimulates enzymes in the bone cell membrane to increase the overall tyrosyl phosphorylation of an artificial substrate in vitro (100). Fifth, thiophosphorylation studies suggest that fluoride acts to increase tyrosyl phosphorylation through an inhibition of phosphotyrosyl protein phosphatase rather than a stimulation of tyrosyl kinase (100). Sixth, fluoride causes an increase in the tyrosyl phosphorylation of, at least, ten cellular proteins (Thomas and Lau, unpublished observations). Seventh, the time course for the effect of fluoride on both mitogenesis and on tyrosyl phosphorylation exhibits a lag period consistent with an inhibition of phosphotyrosyl protein phosphatase and inconsistent with an effect on tyrosyl kinase (Thomas and Lau, unpublished observation). Finally, bone cells (and perhaps also kidney cells) have been shown to contain this fluoride-sensitive phosphotyrosyl protein phosphatase activity (100), a finding that is consistent with the observation that the mitogenic action of fluoride is specific for bone cells (and perhaps also kidney cells - 95,99).

It should be noted that there are some observations that are inconsistent with the hypothesis that the aluminum ion acts through a mechanism which is similar to that of fluoride to exert its mitogenic actions. First, while the mitogenic action of fluoride is specific for bone cells (95,100), the mitogenic effect of aluminum does not appear to be

tissue-specific as it stimulates the proliferation of many cell types, *e.g.*, mouse lens epithelial cells (48) and Swiss 3T3K skin fibroblasts (49). Second, the mitogenic action of aluminum on bone cell proliferation is highly reproducible, whereas the bone cell mitogenic effect of fluoride is inconsistent.

VI. Potential involvement of local bone cell production of growth factors in the osteogenic action of aluminum.

Recent investigations have revealed that many bone cell effectors exert their osteogenic effects by modulating the production and/or the activity of bone cell growth factors. It has been reported that a) progestins stimulate human bone cell proliferation by increasing the bone cell production of IGF-II (109); b) estrogen affects bone formation by altering the production of TGF β (110); c) 1,25 dihydroxyvitamin D₃ inhibits bone cell proliferation by altering the production of IGFs and their binding proteins (111); d) and rogens stimulate bone cell proliferation and differentiation by modulating IGF production (112); and e) low-amplitude, low frequency electric field-stimulated bone cell proliferation is mediated, in part, by increased production of IGF-II (113). Consequently, these findings suggest the interesting possibility that some bone cell mitogens may induce cell proliferation indirectly through stimulation of production of bone cell growth factors, and we have, therefore, hypothesized that aluminum may be acting as a bone cell mitogen by altering the effective concentration or activity of bone cell-derived growth factors. Accordingly, one of the goals of this thesis work was to determine whether the mitogenic action of aluminum is mediated by the production of growth factors by human bone cells *in vitro* (or by synthesizing products, such as IGFBPs, that modulate the activity of the growth factors).

Bone cells are known to produce several growth factors, *i.e.*, IGF-I, IGF-II, TGFB, PDGF, and FGF (114), and it has been hypothesized that these growth factors, upon secretion from osteoblasts, will be deposited in bone matrix (114), and released

during resorption (115). In human bone cells, the most abundant and apparently most important growth factors are IGF-II and TGFB (116,117). TGFB is synthesized by bone cells as latent holoenzyme form, which needs to be activated by proteolysis (118). Because our laboratory has the expertise and reagents to measure IGFs accurately, whereas measurements of active TGFB is based on an insensitive and less reliable bioassay (117), this thesis work had been focused on investigation of the potential effects of aluminum on the IGF regulatory system.

VII. Insulin-like growth factor regulatory system and bone cell proliferation.

It is now clear that the IGF regulatory system is complex and highly regulated. Human bone cells produce two IGFs (*i.e.*, IGF-I and IGF-II) and at least six binding proteins (*i.e.*, IGFBP-1, -2, -3, -4, -5, and -6). These two classes of molecules, the IGFs and their binding proteins, represent two major components of the IGF regulatory systems. My thesis work has been focused primarily on these two components of the system.

IGF-II is the most abundant growth factor in human bone matrix (114), and is produced by bone cells from a number of species, including human, mouse, and rat (116). IGF-II is synthesized as a prepropolypeptide with an approximate molecular mass of 20 kD that includes a 24 amino acid signal peptide and an 89 amino acid carboxyterminal peptide (119). IGF-II stimulates cell proliferation in a dose-dependent manner in serum-free cultures of bone cells isolated from a number of species, including chick, mouse, and human (120). It has been shown that IGF-II is one of the few growth factors that is mitogenic for untransformed normal human bone cells isolated from the trabecular bone of femoral head samples (121). In addition to stimulating bone cell proliferation, IGF-II also stimulates the differentiated function of bone cells. In this regard, IGF-II stimulated synthesis of type I collagen in mouse calvarial MC3T3-E1 cells (122). The production rate of IGF-II by human bone cells is regulated by a variety of bone cell regulators. PTH has been shown to stimulate IGF-II release in newborn mouse calvaria (123); and 1,25 dihydroxyvitamin D_3 stimulated production of IGF-II in serum-free organ cultures of newborn mouse calvaria (111). Also 17- β estradiol, was found to increase the secretion of IGF-II from the rat osteosarcoma UMR106 cell line (124). Thus, the bone cell production of IGF-II is regulated, and agents that stimulate bone formation may act, at least in part, by altering the production of IGF-II by bone cells.

IGF-I is produced by human bone cells at concentrations of 50- to 100-fold less than those of IGF-II (125). IGF-I stimulates human bone cell proliferation in a dosedependent manner (120). The mitogenic efficiencies of IGF-I and IGF-II *in vitro* were almost identical, since identical dose response curves for IGF-I and -II were obtained in untransformed normal human bone cells and embryonic chick calvarial cells under serum-free conditions (120). Studies on the regulation of IGF-I production by bone cells have shown that 17β-estradiol stimulated the production of IGF-I in UMR106 cells (124). PTH has also been shown to increase the production of IGF-I by monolayer cultures of rat osteoblasts (*i.e.*, 1.5- to 2-fold after 24 hour treatment). These findings are consistent with the notion that the bone cell production of IGF-I, like that of IGF-II, is regulated and may play a role in mediating the mitogenic effects of bone cell effectors.

IGF-I and II are bound to specific binding proteins in the serum, tissue extracts, and conditioned media (126,127). Six different IGFBPs have been identified thus far. IGFBP-1 has 234 amino acids with a predicted molecular mass of 25.3 kD, somewhat smaller than the apparent molecular size (30-35 kD) estimated by SDS polyacrylamide gel (128). IGFBP-1 binds to both IGF-I and -II with similar affinity (128). Human IGFBP-2 contains a 39-residue signal peptide followed by a mature protein of 289 residues with a predicted molecular mass of 31 kD. While IGFBP-2 binds both IGF-I and -II, it has a much higher affinity for IGF-II than IGF-I (129). IGFBP-3, the

major IGFBP in serum, has a 27 amino acid signal sequence followed by a mature protein of 264 amino acid residues, and it binds both IGF-I and -II with similar affinity (130).

The exact functions of these IGFBPs is not fully understood. IGFBP-1 has been shown to induce IGF-I-stimulated cell proliferation in muscle cells (133). On the other hand, high concentrations of IGFBP-1 inhibited the actions of IGF-I in cultured choriocarcinoma cells (134). The function of IGFBP-2 is unknown. Purified IGFBP-3 either inhibits or stimulates cell proliferation in neonatal skin fibroblasts depending on culture conditions (135).

Perhaps the most important IGFBPs in human bones are IGFBP-4 and IGFBP-5. IGFBP-4, molecular size of approximately 25 kD as determined by SDS polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis, is a potent inhibitor of IGF activity on bone cells (131) that binds IGF-I and -II but not insulin. IGFBP-4 is the most potent inhibitory binding protein identified thus far. IGFBP-5 is a newly discovered binding protein (132). IGFBP-5, upon binding to IGFs, enhances the mitogenic activity of the bound IGF; thus, IGFBP-5 has been described as a stimulatory IGFBP (132). The most unique feature of IGFBP-5 is that it has high binding affinity for the mineral phase of bone, and may play a role in fixing IGFs in mineralizing human bone matrix (132). IGFBP-6 is a newly discovered binding protein, whose function and properties are not yet well understood.

VIII. Human TE85 osteosarcoma cells as a model system for human osteoblasts.

In order to evaluate the mechanism of the mitogenic action of aluminum on human bone cells, an appropriate cell model is necessary. The normal human bone cell population is generally heterogeneous consisting of many cell types with various degrees of differentiation. Human osteosarcoma cells are transformed tumor cells, which are more homogeneous than normal human bone cell populations. Moreover, some osteosarcoma cells appear to have retained some of the normal regulatory mechanisms for cell proliferation. Hence, useful information can be obtained from appropriate osteosarcoma cells.

In these studies I have used human TE85 osteosarcoma cells. These cells were chosen because a) they grow much faster than the normal untransformed human osteoblasts, and thus would provide sufficient cell numbers for my experiments in a reasonable time frame; b) unlike normal human bone cells, they are relatively homogeneous; c) they exhibit several characteristics which are similar to those of untransformed human osteoblasts (81); and d) previous studies have used these osteosarcoma cells to investigate the mitogenic action of fluoride on human osteoblast-line cells. Consequently, we have been able to compare the results of our studies with previous work on fluoride in the same cells.

CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS and METHODS

I. MATERIALS.

Tissue culture supplies were from Falcon (Oxnard, CA). Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM), collagenase, bovine calf serum, penicillin, and streptomycin were from GIBCO Laboratories (Grand Island, NY). [³H]Thymidine (48 Ci/mmol) was obtained from Research Products International (Mount Prospect, IL). [³H]Proline (52 Ci/mmol) was a product of New England Nuclear (Wilmington, DE). [125]NaI (2,125 Ci/mmol) and [³²P]ATP (10-25 Ci/mmol) were products of ICN Biochemicals (Irvine, CA). The radioimmunoassay kit for cAMP was purchased from Incstar, Inc. (St. Paul, MN). p-Nitrophenyl phosphate (PNPP), Folin-Ciocalteu's Phenol reagent, and bovine serum albumin were products of Sigma Chemical Company (St. Louis, MO). Aluminum sulfate, aluminum nitrate, aluminum chloride, and sodium sulfate were purchased from Fisher Chemical Co. (Los Angles, CA). Chloroform, formaldehyde, and 2-propanol were obtained from Fisher Scientific (Irvine, CA). Molecular biology grade phenol was purchased from USB Corp. (Cleveland, OH). Guanidine thiocyanate was a product of Fluka Chemicals Corp. (Ronkonoma, NY). All other chemicals were molecular biology grade (or reagent grade, as appropriate) and were obtained from Sigma Chemical Co. (St. Louis, MO). Recombinant human IGF-I and IGF-II were purchased from Bachem Chemicals (Torrance, CA). The human osteosarcoma TE85 cells were obtained from Dr. J. Fogh of the Sloan Kettering Institute (New York, NY), and were maintained in our laboratory. Normal human bone cells were provided by Dr. J. Wergedal of Loma Linda University. 1,25 dihydroxyvitamin D₃ was kindly provided by Dr. M. R. Uskokovic of Hoffmann-LaRoche, Inc. (Nutley, NJ).

20

II. METHODS.

1. <u>Cell cultures</u>.

Embryonic chicken calvarial cells were prepared by sequential crude collagenase digestion in serum-free DMEM at 37°C as previously described which resulted in enriched cultures of osteoblasts and their precursors (136). Cells isolated by trysin digestion were plated at 7,000 cells per well (in 1 ml medium) in 24-well plates in serum-free DMEM and cultured for 24 hours. Normal human bone cells, which were prepared according to Wergedal and Baylink (137), were plated at 10,000 cells (in 1 ml) per well in 24-well plates in DMEM containing 10% bovine calf serum and cultured for 24 hours. These human bone cells were shown to be of osteoblastic nature (121). Human osteosarcoma TE85 cells, a cell line showing osteoblastic characteristics (138), were routinely maintained by weekly passaging in DMEM containing 10% bovine calf serum. The TE85 cells were plated at either 5,000 cells per well for DNA synthesis studies or 20,000 cells per well for alkaline phosphatase studies in 24-well plates in serum-free DMEM and cultured for 24 hours. 24 hours after plating, each bone cell culture was changed to serum-free DMEM and effectors were added half an hour later, for incubations of either 20-24 hours for [³H]thymidine incorporation assay or 48 hours for alkaline phosphatase specific activity measurements. Aluminum salts were added in DMEM supplemented with 0.1% bovine serum albumin as carrier. Bovine serum albumin by itself had no significant effect on [³H]thymidine incorporation or on cellular alkaline phosphatase activity (data not shown).

Cells from embryonic chicken intestine, liver, muscle, and heart were also prepared, according to the method for embryonic chicken calvarial cell preparation (136), for determination of cell specificity for mitogenic activity of aluminum ion.

2. <u>Cell DNA synthesis assay</u>.

Bone cell mitogenic activity was assayed by measuring the stimulation of incorporation of [³H]thymidine into cellular DNA. The assay was adapted from the method of Gospodarowicz et al. (139) and has previously been described (136,140,141). Briefly, the bone cells were plated at 2,500 cells per cm² in 24-well plates in DMEM containing 10% bovine calf serum for 24 hours. After plating, the bone cells were changed to serum-free DMEM and incubated for 24 hours. The medium was then changed to fresh serum-free DMEM and effectors (e.g.,aluminum) were added half an hour later, and the cultures were incubated for an additional 24 hours. Aluminum ion (i.e., aluminum sulfate) was added in DMEM with 0.1% bovine serum albumin as carrier. Addition of aluminum ion did not alter the pH of the culture medium according to the pH indicator in the culture medium. $[^{3}H]$ thymidine was added to each culture (20 μ l, containing 0.75 μ Ci) 2 hours before the end of the incubation. Bone cell mitogenic activity was assayed by the stimulation of incorporation of [³H]thymidine into cellular DNA during the last 2 hours of the exposure to effectors. To confirm the assay as a measurement of cell proliferation, the number of cells in parallel replicate cultures of TE85 cells were also counted after incubation with or without aluminum ion for 48 hours (i.e., in two separate experiments). A minimum of six replicate culture wells were used to measure [³H]thymidine incorporation for each tested dose of effector.

3. <u>Cellular alkaline phosphatase activity assay</u>.

Cell layer protein was extracted in a buffered solution of 0.01% triton X-100, and cellular alkaline phosphatase activity was determined in an aliquot of this extract with 10 mM PNPP in 0.15 M sodium carbonate buffer (pH 10.3) in the presence of 1 mM MgCl (142). One unit of enzyme activity was the amount of enzyme that hydrolyzed 1 μ mol PNPP per min at room temperature (25°C). The cellular enzyme activity was normalized against DNA content measured by a fluorescent method (143), or against cellular protein determined according to Lowry *et al.* (144). Alkaline phosphatase specific activity was determined in six replicate cultures for each tested effector concentration.

4. <u>Collagen synthesis assay</u>.

The ability of aluminum ion to stimulate bone formation was assessed by the measurement of collagen synthesis in six replicate monolayer cultures of human osteosarcoma TE85 cells. The procedure has previously been described (145). Briefly, sub-confluent cultures of TE85 osteosarcoma cells were plated in 24-well culture plates in serum-free DMEM, and 24 hours later effectors were added for an additional 48 hours incubation. Sodium fluoride (100 μ M) and insulin (0.1 μ M) were included as positive controls. During the final 6 hours, [³H]proline (8 μ Ci/ml) and β-aminopropionitrile (50 μ g/ml) were added to each well. Radioactivity in collagenase-digestible and -nondigestible proteins was determined according to Beresford *et al.* (145). Percent collagen synthesized was calculated after multiplying collagenase-nondigestible proteins by 5.4 to correct for the relative abundance of proline in collagenase-digestible and -nondigestible proteins by 5.4 to correct for the relative abundance of proline in collagenase-digestible and -nondigestible proteins by 5.4 to correct for the relative abundance of proline in collagenase-digestible and -nondigestible proteins by 5.4 to correct for the relative abundance of proline in collagenase-digestible and -nondigestible proteins (146).

5. <u>cAMP assay</u>.

Cellular cAMP production in confluent cultures of TE85 cells was determined as previously described (141). The cells were plated in 24-well plates in 1 ml DMEM with 10% fetal bovine serum, and allowed to grow for 24 hours. The cells were then washed three times with serum-free DMEM, and placed in 1 ml fresh serum-free DMEM containing 1 mM isobutylmethylxanthine to inhibit phosphodiesterase activity. After incubation with effectors at room temperature for 15 min, incubation medium was decanted rapidly. The cells were washed with ice-cold phosphate-buffered saline (0.15 M NaCl/5.6 mM Na₂HPO₄, pH 7.4) and 1 ml of 10% trichloroacetic acid (4°C) was added to each cell layer. The cell layer was then scraped from the plate with a rubber policeman and transferred into a test tube. The cell extracts were then centrifuged for 5 min at 2,500 x g, and the acid was removed by extracting four times with 2 ml of diethyl ether. The aqueous extract was dried by Speed-Vac vacuum centrifugation, and stored at -20°C until assay.

Shortly before assay, each dried extract residue was redissolved in 0.4 ml sodium acetate (50 mM, pH 6.2). cAMP was measured by a radioimmunoassay (RIA). The overall recovery of cAMP was estimated by adding [³H]cAMP (20,000 cpm) to replicate cell cultures during initial trichloroacetic acid extraction. Recovery was found to be 85-90%. The cellular protein concentration in the trichloroacetic acid-insoluble fraction was measured by the protein assay of Lowry *et al.* (144). The amount of cellular cAMP was normalized against cellular protein.

6. <u>Osteocalcin production assay</u>.

Normal human bone cells were plated at 15,000 cells per well in 1 ml of serumfree DMEM in 24-well plate. The cell medium was replaced with 1 ml per well fresh DMEM supplemented with 10^{-8} M vitamin K 24 hours later. Various concentrations of aluminum sulfate were then added in the presence or absence of 10^{-8} M 1,25 dihydroxyvitamin D₃. Cells were allowed to incubate for 72 hours at 37°C under an atmosphere of 5% CO₂ in air. CM was collected and frozen until assay. Osteocalcin concentration in the CM was assayed with an RIA specific for the mid-molecule of human osteocalcin (147). Cells were then extracted with 0.1% Triton X-100, and cell extract alkaline phosphatase activity and protein were assayed as described above.

7. <u>IGF assays</u>.

IGF-I was determined in CM by an RIA, using rabbit polyclonal anti-human IGF-I antiserum UB3-189 from the National Institutes of Health. Recombinant human IGF-I was used as standard and tracer. IGF-I was labeled with [¹²⁵I]NaI by chloramine-T iodination as described previously (125) and separated from free ¹²⁵I using a Sep-Pak (Waters, Milford, MA). The range of the assay was 0.05-3 ng/ml, the cross-reactivity with IGF-II and insulin was < 0.5% (125), and there was no crossreactivity with other growth factors. IGF-II was assayed with a radioreceptor assay (RRA) using competitive displacement of ¹²⁵I-labeled human IGF-II binding to monolayer cultures of H-35 rat hepatoma cells. These cells have no type 1 IGF receptors. Human recombinant IGF-II was used for standard and tracer. [125I]IGF-II was prepared as described for IGF-I. The RRA, described previously (125), had a range of 6-80 ng/ml, a cross-reactivity with IGF-I and insulin of < 2%, and no crossreactivity with other growth factors. Both IGF-I and IGF-II assays have been standardized and validated (125). IGFBP artifacts in the CM samples have been eliminated by pre-incubating the samples with 50 ng/ml IGF-II in the IGF-I RIA or with 400 ng/ml IGF-I in the IGF-II RRA (125).

8. Western ligand blotting of IGFBPs.

Human TE85 cells were plated at a density of 17,500 cells per cm² in 2 ml of DMEM containing 10% calf serum in 60-mm culture plates and cultured overnight. The culture media were then changed to serum-free DMEM and incubated for 24 hours. After the incubation, the culture media were changed to fresh DMEM and effector was added. CM was collected after 6, 24, or 48 hours incubation, and dried by SpeedVac centrifugation. Each sample was then resuspended in 0.1 ml of deionized water and 0.1 ml SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis treatment buffer without β -mercaptoethanol. A 0.05 ml volume of each CM sample was electrophoresed on a
10-20% gradient SDS-polyacrylamide gel under non-reducing conditions. The sizefractionated proteins were electroblotted onto a nitrocellulose membrane for 24 hours at 50 volts. The immobilized proteins on nitrocellulose membrane were incubated overnight with 2 x 10⁶ cpm each of [¹²⁵I]IGF-I and [¹²⁵I]IGF-II at 4°C. IGFBPs were visualized by autoradiography. The relative concentrations of each IGFBP was determined by measuring the relative intensity of the bands with laser densitometry (Biomed Instruments, Fullerton, CA).

9. <u>Statistical Methods</u>.

The statistical significance of the differences was determined by two-tailed Student's t-test and analysis of variance using a MICROSTAT computer program. The differences were significant when p was < 0.05. The results in this thesis are presented as mean \pm S.D. of six replicates. Each experiment has been repeated at least twice.

CHAPTER 3: RESULTS

I. Effects of aluminum on bone cell DNA synthesis and alkaline phosphatase activity.

Micromolar aluminum sulfate significantly stimulated the [³H]thymidine incorporation into DNA of the chicken calvarial cells in a biphasic, dose-dependent manner (Fig. 1). The maximal stimulation was seen between 10-25 μ M aluminum sulfate. Aluminum sulfate also significantly increased the specific activity of cellular alkaline phosphatase in the monolayer chicken calvarial cells (Fig. 1). The stimulation was also biphasic with the maximal stimulation seen at doses between 15 and 50 μ M of aluminum sulfate (Fig. 1). Other forms of aluminum salt, *i.e.*, aluminum nitrate and aluminum chloride, also stimulated cell DNA synthesis and cellular alkaline phosphatase specific activity in chicken calvarial cells, whereas sodium sulfate at the same doses was ineffective (data not shown). Thus, the mitogenic activities were attributed to aluminum ion and not to its conjugated salt.

The mitogenic effects of aluminum ion were not unique to chicken bone cells, since aluminum caused a similar dose dependent stimulation of [³H]thymidine incorporation and cellular alkaline phosphatase activity in a human osteosarcoma TE85 cell line (Fig. 2, top panel), and in normal human osteoblasts (Fig. 2, bottom panel). In addition, micromolar concentrations of aluminum ion were also mitogenic to chicken intestinal cells, but not to chicken liver, heart, or muscle cells (Fig. 3). Thus, our results suggest that the mitogenic action of aluminum is not specific to chicken bone cells.

It should be noted that the increases in [³H]thymidine incorporation appeared to reflect the stimulation of cell proliferation since the increases in [³H]thymidine incorporation after 24 hours incubation with aluminum sulfate corresponded to the increases in the number of TE85 cells after an 48-hour incubation (Fig. 4).

Figure 1. Stimulation of $[{}^{3}H]$ thymidine incorporation and cellular alkaline phosphatase activity in cultured embryonic chicken calvarial cells by aluminum sulfate. The data are shown as percentage of the corresponding no addition controls. The closed circles show the $[{}^{3}H]$ thymidine incorporation; while the closed squares represent the cellular alkaline phosphatase activity. The dashed line indicates 100% of the corresponding control value, which was 143 cpm incorporated per well for the $[{}^{3}H]$ thymidine incorporation experiment, and 0.178 mU/µg DNA for the cellular alkaline phosphatase experiment.



Figure 2. Stimulation of [³H]thymidine incorporation and cell alkaline phosphatase activity in monolayer cultures of human TE85 osteosarcoma cells (upper panel) and in normal human osteoblasts (bottom panel) by aluminum sulfate. The data were presented as percentage of the corresponding controls. Open circles represent [³H]thymidine incorporation and closed circles indicate the cellular alkaline phosphatase specific activity. The dashed lines indicate 100% of the corresponding control value. In the top panel, 100% of [³H]thymidine incorporation was 3878 cpm per well; and that of cellular alkaline phosphatase specific activity was 0.16 mU/ μ g DNA. In the bottom panel, the 100% of control represents 599 cpm per well.



Figure 3. Cell specificity of the mitogenic activity of aluminum sulfate. Embryonic chicken intestinal, liver, heart, and muscle cells were prepared from 16-day-old embryos. The mitogenic activity of aluminum sulfate was measured by the stimulation of [³H]thymidine incorporation into cellular DNA and is shown as percentage of the corresponding no addition controls. The dashed lines are the corresponding 100% controls, which represented 1346 cpm per well for the intestinal cells, 1455 cpm per well for the liver cells, 792 cpm per well for heart cells, and 613 cpm per well for the muscle cells. As positive control, 1% bovine calf serum was added to each cell monolayer cell cultrues, and each gave significant stimulations of [³H]thymidine incorporation ranging from 406% of control for intestinal cells to 200% of the control for liver cells.



Figure 4. Stimulation of the proliferation of human TE85 osteosarcoma cells by aluminum ion. TE85 cells were plated at 5,000 cells per well in 1 ml serum-free DMEM and cultured for 24 hours. The cells were then changed to fresh serum-free DMEM, and effectors were added half an hour later. In one set of the experiment, the thymidine incorporation was determined after an 24-hour incubation (panel A); and in a duplicate set of the experiment, the number of cells per well was counted after an 48-hour incubation using a hemocytometer. Results were presented as percentage of the no effector controls. The dashed lines are the corresponding 100% controls. The error bars indicate the standard deviation of the mean of 6 replicates. The 100% of control in panel A was the incorporation of 4576 cpm per well; and that in panel B was 4,055 cells per well.



II. Stimulation of collagen synthesis by mitogenic doses of aluminum.

The effect of the mitogenic concentrations of aluminum on the stimulation of bone formation *in vitro* was assessed by the ability of the cation to stimulate incorporation of [³H]proline into collagenase digestible proteins. Table 1 shows that aluminum ion significantly stimulated the incorporation of [³H]proline into collagenase-digestible and total proteins, suggesting that aluminum ion stimulated both the *de novo* synthesis of total and collagen proteins. That the mitogenic concentrations of aluminum ion (*i.e.*, 10-25 μ M) significantly increased the relative proportion of collagen indicated that the observed stimulation in collagen synthesis was not a result of a nonspecific overall stimulation of protein synthesis. As positive controls, the mitogenic doses of fluoride (*i.e.*, 100 μ M) and insulin (0.1 μ M) (108) were both shown to stimulate collagen synthesis in these cells.

III. Effects of mitogenic doses of aluminum ion on osteocalcin production.

The action of mitogenic concentrations of aluminum sulfate on the secretion of osteocalcin by normal human osteoblasts was examined. The human osteoblasts under basal conditions secreted little, if any, osteocalcin into their conditioned medium (*i.e.*, undetectable by our assay), and mitogenic concentrations of aluminum did not stimulate its secretion, or the effect was masked by the insensitivity of the assay (Fig. 5, top panel). However, micromolar aluminum ion significantly increased cellular alkaline phosphatase specific activity in the same cells (Fig. 5, bottom panel). High concentrations of aluminum appeared to be toxic to these cells, since 200 μ M aluminum sulfate reduced the specific activity of alkaline phosphatase to the undetectable level, and since the cells also looked unhealthy, since a significant amount of cell debris was seen in these cultures.

Because it has been suggested that 1,25 dihydroxyvitamin D_3 is required for the activation of osteocalcin synthesis by osteoblasts (148), the effect of aluminum ion on

Table 1. Aluminum ion stimulates collagen synthesis in human osteosarcoma TE85 cells *in vitro*. TE85 cells were plated at 50,000 per well of 24-well plates in 1 ml of DMEM containing 10% bovine calf serum and cultured for 24 hours. Cells were then changed to 0.5 ml serum-free DMEM containing $50\mu g/ml$ ascorbate, for an additional 48 hour incubation. At the end of that incubation, a solution of $2 \mu Ci$ [³H]proline (52 Ci/mmol) and 25 $\mu g/ml$ β-aminopropionitrile were added and the cells were further incubated for 4 hours. The amount of collagen and total protein synthesis were determined as previously described (25). The results are reported in mean ± S.D., n = 6. Statistical significance was determined by comparing the effector-treated cells to the "no addition control" cells using a two-tailed Student's t-test.

Effector	Total Protein (cpm/well)	р	Collagen (cpm/well)	р	% Collagen	р
Control	3845.2±692.0		140.2±45.23		3.59±0.67	
10 μ M Al ₂ (SO ₄) ₃	12708.3±3718.5	< 0.001	812.0±180.8	< 0.001	6.53 ± 0.77	< 0.001
25 μ M Al ₂ (SO ₄) ₃	11695.9±1776.1	< 0.001	546.8±75.9	< 0.001	4.82 ± 1.32	< 0.050
50 μ M Al ₂ (SO ₄) ₃	10190.9±2379.9	< 0.001	480.0 ± 117.7	< 0.001	4.63±1.10	n.s.
75 μ M Al ₂ (SO ₄) ₃	10293.8±3561.9	< 0.001	368.9 ± 147.8	< 0.001	3.55 ± 0.62	n.s.
100 μ M Al ₂ (SO ₄) ₃	10357.3±1980.0	< 0.001	465.0±89.4	< 0.001	4.50 ± 0.43	< 0.020
100 μ M Fluoride	13062.3 ± 2574.5	< 0.001	648.5±76.4	< 0.001	5.05 ± 0.62	< 0.010
0.1 µM Insulin	13234.0±2484.2	< 0.001	689.4±160.5	< 0.001	5.25±0.90	< 0.010

Figure 5. Effects of aluminum ion on basal and 1,25 dihydroxyvitamin D_3 stimulated osteocalcin secretion and cellular alkaline phosphatase specific activity in normal human osteoblasts. The top panel shows the effects of aluminum ion on the secretion of osteocalcin by normal human bone cells. The open symbols represent the amount of osteocalcin in the conditioned medium after an 24-hour incubation in the absence of $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ (but in the presence of the ethanol vehicle control). The closed symbols indicate osteocalcin production in the presence of $10^{-8}M \ 1,25(OH)_2D_3$. The detection limit of the osteocalcin RIA was 30 pg/well. The bottom panel shows the effects of aluminum ion on the specific activity of the cellular alkaline phosphatase in the same experiment. The open symbols are the cells incubated for 24 hours without $1,25(OH)_2D_3$; and the closed symbols are those in the presence of $1,25(OH)_2D_3$.



the 1,25 dihydroxyvitamin D_3 -stimulated osteocalcin release by these cells was also evaluated. 1,25 dihydroxyvitamin D_3 (10⁻⁸M) stimulated osteocalcin secretion, and mitogenic doses of aluminum ion significantly potentiated the release of osteocalcin by human osteoblasts. However, it is not clear as to why there were two apparent "peaks" of stimulation. Nonetheless, the stimulation by aluminum was confirmed in two separate experiments. In contrast, aluminum ion inhibited the 1,25 dihydroxyvitamin D_3 -dependent stimulation of alkaline phosphatase specific activity in a dose-dependent manner. This finding indicates that the effects of aluminum on these two 1,25 dihydroxyvitamin D_3 -dependent events were different; and raises the possibility that they might act through different mechanisms.

IV. Effect of medium change on the mitogenic activity of aluminum ion.

Because no attempt was made in this study to remove contaminating fluoride from reagents and glassware, one might argue that the observed mitogenic actions of aluminum could be due to low concentrations of fluoride. To assess this possibility, the mitogenic activity of aluminum was compared to that of fluoride. This laboratory has previously shown that the osteogenic actions of fluoride were abolished by medium changes, and that the mitogenic activity of fluoride depended on a coincubation with growth factors (*i.e.*, in the CM (101,108)). My studies showed that removal of endogenous growth factors by medium change immediately before the addition of aluminum did not abolish the stimulatory effects of aluminum ion on the [³H]thymidine incorporation into cell DNA (Fig. 6, top panel) or on cellular alkaline phosphatase activity (Fig. 6, bottom panel). Analyses of variances indicate that the stimulation of both [³H]thymidine incorporation and of cellular alkaline phosphatase activity were significantly higher in the group without medium change than that with medium change (p < 0.00001 for [³H]thymidine incorporation; and p < 0.0027 for cell alkaline phosphatase activity), suggesting that there were interactions between aluminum ion and

Evidence that the stimulation of [³H]thymidine incorporation (upper Figure 6. panel) and of cellular alkaline phosphatase specific activity (lower panel) of aluminum on human TE85 osteosarcoma cells is not dependent on a factor(s) in conditioned medium. The osteogenic effects of aluminum sulfate were determined in human osteosarcoma cells in conditioned medium, *i.e.*, no medium change, and in fresh medium, *i.e.*, with medium change. Conditioned medium had been conditioned by overnight incubation with TE85 cells. Fresh medium indicates replacement of conditioned medium with fresh unconditioned DMEM half an hour before the addition of aluminum sulfate. The results are presented as the percentage of the untreated control value. Values for untreated controls (indicated by the dashed lines) reflected [³H]thymidine incorporation or the cellular alkaline phosphatase specific activity in the absence of aluminum. The 100% control value of [³H]thymidine incorporation for the conditioned medium group and the fresh medium group was 276 cpm and 359 cpm incorporated per well, respectively. The 100% control value of cellular alkaline phosphatase specific activity for the conditioned medium group and the fresh medium group was $0.468 \text{ U/}\mu\text{g}$ DNA and $0.218 \text{ U/}\mu\text{g}$ DNA, respectively.



endogenous growth factors in the stimulations shown in these two parameters, even though the effects of aluminum ion did not require the presence of growth factors.

V. Interaction of fluoride and aluminum on bone cell proliferation.

As a further test of the hypothesis that aluminum might be acting in concert with fluoride, we reasoned that if aluminum acts via the formation of aluminum fluoride, then addition of fluoride should shift the bone cell mitogenic dose-dependent curve of aluminum to left (i.e., lower optimal doses) without altering its maximal stimulation. Furthermore, if fluoride and aluminum act through the same biochemical mechanism (*i.e.*, through the formation of aluminum fluoride), there should be no interaction between the two mitogenic activities. Accordingly, the effects of various doses of fluoride on the stimulation of TE85 cell proliferation by aluminum sulfate were tested (Fig. 7). There were two noteworthy observations: (a) fluoride did not significantly shift or alter the dose-dependent curves of aluminum ion; and (b) fluoride potentiated the stimulation of $[{}^{3}H]$ thymidine incorporation by aluminum ion, *i.e.*, the maximal stimulation was higher when both effectors were present than each alone. To further analyze this apparent interaction between fluoride and aluminum ion, the data of Figure 7 were replotted in a manner analogous to the Lineweaver-Burk kinetic plot, *i.e.*, 1/(stimulation of [³H]thymidine incorporation) vs 1/[aluminum sulfate] (Fig. 8). This plot indicates that the maximal stimulation (*i.e.*, analogous to V_{max}) by aluminum sulfate in the presence of fluoride was greater than that by aluminum alone, and that the presence of fluoride had no effect on the dose of aluminum that was required to produce half maximal stimulation (i.e., analogous to "K_m"). This noncompetitive type of interaction, which indicates that fluoride indeed interacted with aluminum ion, is consistent with the interpretation that the rate-limiting steps for the mitogenic actions of fluoride and aluminum are different.

Figure 7. Interaction of the mitogenic activity of aluminum and fluoride on human TE85 osteosarcoma cells. Various concentration of sodium fluoride [*i.e.*, 0 (closed circles), 50 (closed triangles), 100 (open triangles), and 200 μ M (open circles)] potentiated the bone cell mitogenic activity of aluminum sulfate. The results were presented as percentage of the no addition control (*i.e.*, neither aluminum nor fluoride). The 100% of the control value (indicated by the dashed line) was 4891 cpm incorporated per well.



Figure 8. Analysis of interaction between fluoride and aluminum with a plot analogous to the Lineweaver-Burk kinetic plot. The results of Figure 7 are plotted as 1/stimulation of [³H]thymidine incorporation (*i.e.*, difference in the cpm incorporated/well of the treated group and that of the no addition control) vs 1/aluminum sulfate concentration. Closed circles are for the no fluoride; open circles are for 100 μ M fluoride; and the open triangles are for the 200 μ M fluoride.



VI. Effects of aluminum on cAMP production.

Since fluoroaluminate is a potent stimulator of adenylate cyclase through its action on the G-proteins (85,86), we also measured the effects of aluminum ion on cAMP production by TE-85 cells. Table 2 shows that mitogenic concentrations of aluminum did not significantly increase the cellular cAMP production in these cells. PTH and 10 mM sodium fluoride both significantly stimulated the cellular cAMP production in these cells, indicating that the adenylate cyclase system in these cells was responsive to stimulation.

VII. Effects of aluminum ion on IGF's release from TE85 cells.

To test the hypothesis that the mitogenic action of aluminum ion is mediated by the local bone production of IGFs, the concentrations of IGFs in the CM of TE85 cells treated with or without mitogenic doses of aluminum sulfate for 48-hours were measured (Fig. 9). The basal concentration of IGF-I produced by TE85 cells was very low (*i.e.*, at the low detection limit of our RIA), and treatment with aluminum ion appeared to enhance the release of IGF-I into CM by these cells. However, the effective dose range was very narrow. In this experiment, 25 μ M of aluminum ion was the only effective concentration. In a repeat experiment, the optimal dose of aluminum ion was between 25 and 50 μ M (data not shown). On the other hand, the IGF-II concentration in the CM of the unstimulated TE85 cells was at least an order of magnitude higher than that of IGF-I. Treatment with the same doses of aluminum ion significantly stimulated the release of IGF-II by these cells in a biphasic dose-dependent manner. The optimal dose of aluminum ion in each of three experiments ranged from 50 to 75 μ M. Equivalent concentrations of sodium sulfate (up to 200 μ M) were also tested, but sodium sulfate had no effects on either $[{}^{3}H]$ thymidine incorporation, or cell alkaline phosphatase specific activity (data not shown). Thus, the observed effects were due to aluminum ion and not to the counter anion, sulfate.

Table 2. Effect of the mitogenic concentrations of aluminum on cAMP production in TE85 cells. Confluent TE85 cell cultures were treated with effectors in fresh serumfree DMEM containing 1 mM isobutylmethylxanthine at room temperature for 15 minutes. cAMP content in the cell extract after extraction with ether to remove trichloroacetate acid was measured with a commercial RIA kit. The results are presented in mean \pm S.D. of 6 replicates.

	Cellular cAMP		
	Concentration		
Effector	(pmol/mg cell protein)	p*	
No addition Control	46.12±15.06		
10 μ M Al ₂ (SO ₄) ₃	76.98 ± 30.37	n.s.	
30 μ M Al ₂ (SO ₄) ₃	56.85 ± 17.83	n.s.	
50 μ M Al ₂ (SO ₄) ₃	86.30 ± 43.27	n.s.	
100 μ M Al ₂ (SO ₄) ₃	58.80 ± 17.68	n.s.	
150 μ M Al ₂ (SO ₄) ₃	70.58 ± 39.09	n.s.	
10 mM Fluoride**	82.15 ± 23.93	< 0.020	
100 nM PTH	208.82 ± 135.31	< 0.050	

*Statistical significance was determined by comparing the effector-treated cells to the "no addition control" cells. One way of Anaylsis of Variance indicates that there was no significant dose-dependent stimulation of cAMP by aluminum ion (p = 0.2563).

**Fluoride, at millimolar concentrations, is known to stimulate adenylate cyclase. Thus, 10 mM fluoride was included in this study as a positive control. Figure 9. Effects of aluminum ion on the secretion from IGFs of human TE85 osteosarcoma cells. TE85 cells were plated at a density of 5,000 cells per cm² in 3 ml of DMEM containing 10% bovine calf serum in 6-well plates. When the cells reached approximately 40% confluence, the cultures were changed to serum-free DMEM for 24 hours, after which the medium was changed to fresh serum-free DMEM, and various concentrations of aluminum were added half an hour later. The cells were allowed to incubate for 48 hours. The CM from each well was then collected in plastic test tubes precoated with 1% bovine serum albumin in DMEM. One ml of each CM was then dried by vacuum centrifugation, and resuspended in 50 μ l of assay mixture. IGF-I and -II were assayed as described in Methods. The top panel shows the IGF-I concentrations in CM; and the bottom panel indicates the IGF-II concentrations in CM. The dotted lines represent the IGF concentrations in CM of the untreated control cells.



VIII. Effects of an inhibitory IGF binding protein (*i.e.*, IGFBP-4) on the aluminum ion-dependent stimulation of cell proliferation of TE85 cells.

As a further test of the hypothesis that the aluminum-dependent stimulation of human bone cell proliferation was mediated by an increase in IGF secretion, we measured the effects of adding an inhibitory IGF binding protein, IGFBP-4 (131), on aluminum-induced human bone cell proliferation. [Mohan and coworkers have previously demonstrated that IGFBP-4 was a specific and potent inhibitor of IGF-I and -II stimulated in human bone cell proliferation (131)]. Figure 10 shows that IGFBP-4 at 300 ng/ml significantly inhibited the basal proliferation of the TE85 cells by 17.8 ± 11.0%, and that aluminum sulfate at 100 μ M stimulated the [³H]thymidine incorporation into TE85 cells by 47 ± 21.9% (p < 0.001). Addition of 300 ng/ml of IGFBP-4 significantly blocked the aluminum-induced stimulation of [³H]thymidine incorporation by 27.7 ± 8.6% (147.0 ± 21.9% of controls vs. 106.3 ± 11.9% of controls, p < 0.001), which is larger than the inhibitory effect of IGFBP-4 on the basal cell proliferation rate.

IX. Effects of aluminum ion on secretion of IGFBPs by human bone cells.

The effects of a mitogenic dose of aluminum sulfate on the secretion of IGFBPs by TE85 cells were also examined. IGFBPs were measured by Western ligand blot analysis. Figure 11 shows that human TE85 cells secreted mostly the 38.5 and 41.5 kD IGFBP-3 and the 25 kD IGFBP-4. TE85 cells also secreted an unidentified IGFBP with an apparent molecular size of approximately 30 kD. Treatment with 50 μ M aluminum sulfate appeared to greatly inhibit the secretion of IGFBP-3 and -4 from TE85 cells. Laser densitometric analyses of the autoradiographs of the Western ligand blots revealed that this dose of aluminum ion reduced the IGFBF-3 level in the CM by approximately 35% at each time point and the IGFBP-4 level in the CM by approximately 30% at each time point. The inhibitory effects of aluminum ion could be Figure 10. Effect of IGFBP-4 on the mitogenic activity of aluminum ion on TE85 cells. The mitogenic activity was assessed by stimulation of [³H]thymidine incorporation. The cells were incubated with 300 ng/ml IGFBP-4 alone, 100 μ M aluminum sulfate alone, or both effectors for 20 hours. The dotted line indicates the 100% value of [³H]thymidine incorporation in the vehicle-treated control cells.



Figure 11. Effect of aluminum ion on the secretion of IGFBPs into CM by TE85 cells. The procedure for the IGFBP assay is described in the Methods. This figure shows the autoradiograph of the Western ligand blot. Laser densitometric analyses indicate that the reduction of IGFBP-3 level induced by 50 μ M aluminum at 6-, 24-, and 48-hour incubation was 24%, 36%, and 34%, respectively. The reduction of IGFBP-4 level induced by aluminum at 6-, 24-, and 25%, respectively. This experiment has been repeated twice with similar results. These cells also secreted an identified IGFBP with an apparent molecular size slightly larger than that of IGFBP-4.

Effects of Aluminum ion on IGFBP production by Human Bone Cells



observed within the first 6-hours of exposure and remained evident even after a 48-hour treatment. Similar results were obtained in two repetitive experiments.

CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION

The present study demonstrates that low concentrations, in the micromolar range, of aluminum stimulated the proliferation, measured by the incorporation of $[{}^{3}H]$ thymidine into cellular DNA and differentiation, determined by increased cellular alkaline phosphatase specific activity, a recognized marker of osteoblastic differentiation (149), in osteoblast-like cells derived from chicken or human bone. The stimulations were highly reproducible (*i.e.*, observed in every experiment), but the extent of stimulation and the optimal dose of aluminum varied from experiment to experiment. For example, the stimulation of $[{}^{3}H]$ thymidine incorporation by aluminum in some experiments was as high as 300% of control, but only 150% of control in others. The optimal doses of aluminum in various experiments also differed from 10 to 75 μ M. The cause for this variation is unknown. However, aluminum is one of the most abundant elements in the Earth, and is a major contaminant found in reagent chemicals, culture media, and laboratory glasswares. These experiments did not take into account the possibility of contaminating aluminum as a secondary determinant of the actual concentration of aluminum in our experiments.

My findings were consistent with previous studies (48,49) which showed that the mitogenic action of aluminum, unlike that of fluoride (45,95,100), was not specific for bone cells. Since the mitogenic concentrations of aluminum also influenced the 1,25 dihydroxyvitamin D_3 -dependent stimulation of osteocalcin secretion, an index of osteoblastic function (150), by human osteoblasts and these concentrations of aluminum stimulated collagen synthesis by human osteoblast-line cells, the results of my studies provide strong evidence that aluminum can directly affect the activity of human osteoblast-line cells.

The mechanism(s) by which aluminum stimulates osteoblastic proliferation and differentiation is unknown. It has been suggested that aluminum might act through the

activation of G proteins (85,86). G proteins have been implicated to be key regulators of cellular signal transduction mechanism (151), an important initial step in the cell proliferation and differentiation processes. However, my results indicated that mitogenic concentrations of aluminum did not stimulate cAMP production in TE-85 cells. A recent study showed that agents which affected the adenylate cyclase activity through the interaction with G proteins would significantly inhibit the

1,25 dihydroxyvitamin D_3 -dependent stimulation of osteocalcin production (152). In contrast, this study showed that aluminum, not only did not inhibit, but significantly enhanced the 1,25 dihydroxyvitamin D_3 -dependent stimulation of osteocalcin production by normal human osteoblasts. Hence, these findings argue against the involvement of G proteins in the osteogenic action of aluminum. It should, however, be emphasized that G proteins can also have other functions, *e.g.*, activation of phospholipase C, protein kinase C, and the phosphoinositide pathway (68), and that aluminum has been shown to stimulate phosphoinositide breakdown in fibroblasts (87). In addition, a recent preliminary report using mouse MC3T3-E1 cells suggested that the mitogenic action of aluminum might involve protein kinase C (50). Thus, we cannot dismiss the possibility that the osteogenic action of aluminum may involve G proteins that do not effect cAMP production.

One mechanistic possibility was also examined that aluminum and fluoride could act through the same mechanism to stimulate the proliferation and differentiation of osteoblasts. In this regard, Lau and Farley have previously demonstrated that the mitogenic actions of fluoride and another transition state analog of phosphate, vanadate, require the presence of a growth factor whose receptor is a tyrosyl protein kinase (100,101,108). Two observations indicated that the mitogenic action of fluoride also required that a growth factor be present: (a) the removal of endogenous growth factors by replacing the conditioned medium with fresh unconditioned medium completely abolished the mitogenic effects of fluoride (101,108); and (b) the addition of a growth factor that would stimulate tyrosyl kinase activity, *e.g.*, insulin or IGF-1, in the fresh medium restored the mitogenic activity of fluoride (101,108). My findings that the osteogenic effects of aluminum ion could not be abolished by medium change, indicated that the actions of aluminum, unlike that of fluoride, were independent of bone cell growth factors. The conclusion that the mechanism of action of aluminum is different from that of fluoride was further supported by the following observations: (a) unlike fluoride, aluminum is not a bone cell specific mitogen; (b) addition of fluoride did not appreciably alter the dose dependent curve of aluminum stimulated human osteoblast proliferation; (c) addition of fluoride potentiated the maximal mitogenic actions of aluminum; and (d) the interaction between fluoride and aluminum appeared to be noncompetitive, indicating that the two osteogenic agents each have different rate-limiting steps. Based on these findings, I tentatively conclude that aluminum does not exert its osteogenic actions by inhibiting osteoblastic phosphotyrosyl protein phosphatase activity.

My data clearly showed that aluminum ion also had direct effects on human TE85 osteosarcoma cells, at concentrations that stimulated human bone cell proliferation to: (a) increase the secretion of the IGF-I and -II, in a dose-dependent, biphasic manner, and (b) inhibit the secretion of IGFBPs, especially the inhibitory binding protein IGFBP-4. These effects were reproducible, as similar results were attained in repetitive experiments. The conclusion that mitogenic concentrations of aluminum increased IGF production was further supported by the findings that aluminum increased the steady state level of IGF-I mRNA in TE85 cells during a 24-hour incubation (153). Together, these findings are consistent with the interpretation that mitogenic doses of aluminum ion have significant effects on at least two components of the IGF regulatory system (*i.e.*, the IGFs and the IGFBPs) in human TE85 osteosarcoma cells.

Recent findings from several laboratories, including our own, indicated that bone-derived growth factors, especially IGF-II, play an important regulatory role in human bone cell proliferation and/or differentiation (120). My findings that mitogenic concentrations of aluminum ion increased the synthesis and secretion of IGF-II, therefore, suggest an interesting possibility that the mitogenic activity of aluminum ion on human bone cells could be mediated through the stimulation of the local synthesis and release of IGF-II by bone cells to serve as autocrine/paracrine agents. If this hypothesis is correct, it follows that an inhibition of the action of IGF-II should abolish the aluminum ion-dependent stimulation in cell proliferation of the human bone cells. Ideally, one would like to test whether addition of a specific inhibitory antibody for IGF-II would effectively block the aluminum ion-dependent stimulations of bone cell proliferation. Unfortunately, specific inhibitory antibodies for IGF-II are currently unavailable. However, our laboratory has recently purified an inhibitory IGF binding protein (*i.e.*, IGFBP-4), which specifically inhibits the mitogenic activity of both IGF-I and -II (131). Accordingly, if our hypothesis that the mitogenic action of aluminum ion is mediated via local production of IGFs is correct, addition of an inhibitory dose of IGFBP-4 in the medium should also inhibit the mitogenic activity of aluminum ion on bone cells; and, consistent with this expectation, my data clearly showed that the stimulation of $[{}^{3}H]$ thymidine incorporation induced by a mitogenic concentration of aluminum was blocked by an inhibitory dose of IGFBP-4. In addition, a previous study indicated that the effect of aluminum ion on the proliferation of mouse MC3T3-E1 cells was to induce cells to enter the S phase from the G_0 phase (50). Since it has been known that the action of growth factors to stimulate cell proliferation is also mediated by an induction of the G₀ to S transition, these observations are also consistent with our hypothesis that the mitogenic action of aluminum might be mediated through the local production of growth factors, e.g., IGFs.
Recent evidence indicates that IGFBPs may play an important regulatory role in modulating the local activity of IGFs (120). Of particular interest to my studies of human bone cell proliferation is the finding that the level of IGFBP-4 in the CM of human bone cells correlated negatively with bone cell proliferation rate (154). The results of my studies showed that mitogenic doses of aluminum ion, in addition to increasing the production and secretion of IGFs, also reduced the secretion of IGFBP-4 into CM by human osteoblasts. This inhibitory effect of aluminum ion on IGFBP-4 synthesis/secretion can be seen within the first 6 hours of treatment with aluminum ion, suggesting that this effect is probably a direct action of aluminum. Accordingly, we now hypothesize that treatments of human osteoblastic cells with aluminum ion will, not only increase the levels of the IGFs, but will also reduce the concentration of inhibitory IGFBP-4 in the CM. Together, these two actions of aluminum ion could provide a mechanism to increase the bioavailability of IGFs and thus allow for the indirect induction of a mitogenic signal by aluminum ion. Although my studies indicated that human TE85 osteosarcoma cells also produce and secrete IGFBP-3, and that treatment of TE85 cells with aluminum reduced the concentration of IGFBP-3 in the CM, we have not included that effect in our working hypothesis for the mitogenic responce of TE85 cell to aluminum, because the in vitro effect of IGFBP-3 on IGF activity has been shown to vary with changes in culture conditions (120). Hence, the significance of the reduction of IGFBP-3 secretion by aluminum ion is not clear at this time, because the physiological function of IGFBP-3 in human bone cells is yet to be determined.

To further assess our hypothesis that the action of aluminum to increase human osteoblastic-line cell proliferation was mediated by an increase in the effective activity of locally synthesized IGFs, the dose-dependencies for the mitogenic activity of aluminum and the aluminum-dependent stimulations of IGF secretion were compared. The result of my studies showed that the dose-responce curve for aluminum-stimulated mitogenic activity correlated more closely with the stimulation of IGF-II secretion than with the stimulation of IGF-I (Figs. 4 and 9). In addition, TE85 cells synthesize mostly IGF-II and very little IGF-I. Thus, my data lead me to hypothesize that IGF-II, most likely mediates the mitogenic activity of aluminum in human TE85 osteosarcoma cells.

Regardless of whether IGF-I or IGF-II is the agent that mediates the effect, the most significant aspect of my studies was finding that the mitogenic action of aluminum ion is, at least in part, mediated by local bone cell production of IGFs. If my hypothesis that the mitogenic action of aluminum is mediated through IGF-II is correct, it would be more accurate to speak of aluminum ion as an effector of bone cell proliferation, but not a bone cell mitogen *per se*. The action of aluminum is not to directly stimulate mitosis, but rather to stimulate the production of IGF-II, and further enhance the cellular activity of IGF-II reducing the level of IGFBP-4. At the present time, the mechanism by which aluminum stimulates the production and secretion of IGFs and inhibits the secretion of IGFBP-4 is unknown. However, it should be noted that I did not evaluate whether aluminum ion also increases the synthesis and production of other bone-derived growth factors (*e.g.*, TGFB), so that I do not know if other growth factors might also be involved. Nevertheless, my findings are consistent with the premise that the mitogenic action of aluminum ion on human TE85 cells is, at least in part, mediated through effects on the IGF system.

While the findings described in this thesis suggest that the mitogenic activity of aluminum could not be attributed to its counter ions, we can not dismiss the possibility that other group IIIA metals, similar to aluminum, may be able to stimulate bone cell proliferation. Indeed, preliminary studies by Lau indicated that boron, gallium, and indium, like aluminum, all significantly stimulated [³H]thymidine incorporation and increased alkaline phosphatase specific activity in human TE85 osteosarcoma cells; whereas type IIIB metals, (*e.g.*, lanthanum), did not have the same effect (Lau, unpublished observation). However, it is not clear as to whether the mitogenic action of other type IIIA metal is also mediated through a stimulation of IGF production by

bone cells.

The physiologic significance of my findings that micromolar aluminum ion can be mitogenic for bone cells is unclear at the present time. In this respect, the serum concentration of aluminum is normally very low. Even in the case of renal failure patients treated with aluminum, the serum aluminum concentrations are usually between 5-30 μ M (1,4-6,18), which are lower than the *in vitro* effective doses. On the other hand, because of the high affinity of aluminum ion for bone mineral, the local concentrations of aluminum in bone could be somewhat higher. For example, the bone aluminum content in normal individuals was determined to be 2.4 ± 1.2 mg/kg dry bone (26). Assuming that the extracellular fluid in bone constitutes 50% of the bone weight, this amount of aluminum ion would be equal to approximately $100 \pm 50 \ \mu M$, which would be well within the in vitro osteogenic doses of aluminum ion. This speculation is consistent with the finding that administration of aluminum ion to normal Beagle dogs induced de novo bone formation in vivo (42-44). However, in the chronic renal failure patients, the bone aluminum content is very high [*i.e.*, it could be as high as 175 mg/kgdry bone weight (26)]. This amount of bone aluminum is roughly equivalent to 10 mM, which is approximately 100-fold higher than the *in vitro* osteogenic dose of aluminum, and was inhibitory in my studies. Accordingly, it can be postulated that while low doses of aluminum could stimulate bone formation, the accumulation of high bone aluminum concentrations could be toxic and may lead to the development of osteomalacia (17,18,23-27).

CHAPTER 5: LITERATURE CITED

- 1. Fleming LW, Stewart WK, Fell GS, and Halls DJ. The effect of oral aluminum therapy on plasma levels in patients with chronic renal failure in an area with low water aluminum. Clin. Nephrol. 17:222-227, 1982.
- 2. Andreoli SP, Bergstein JM, and Sherrard DJ. Aluminum intoxication from aluminum-containing phosphate binders in children with azotemia not undergoing dialysis. New Engl. J. Med. 310:1079-1084, 1984.
- 3. Heaf JG, and Melsen F. Aluminum deposition in bone due to aluminum hydroxide consumption. Nephron 40:246-247, 1985.
- 4. Kaehny WD, Alfrey AC, Holman RE, and Shorr WJ. Aluminum transfer during hemodialysis. Kidney Int. 12:361-365, 1977.
- 5. Pogglitsch H, Knopp C, Wawschinek O, and Petek W. Aluminum intoxication in dialysis patients. Int. J. Artif. Organs 5:293-298, 1982.
- 6. Alfrey AC, Le Gendre GR, and Kaenhy WD. The dialysis encephalopathy syndrome: possible aluminum intoxication. New Engl. J. Med. 294:184-188, 1976.
- Sigel H, and Sigel A. Aluminum and its role in biology. in: Metal ions in biological systems, Vol. 24, 424-436. Marcel Dekker, New York, 1988.
- 8. Wills MR, and Savory J. Aluminum poisoning: dialysis encephalopathy, osteomalacia and anemia. Lancet ii:29-34, 1983.
- 9. Birchall JD, and Chappell JS. Aluminum, chemical physiology, and Alzheimer's disease. Lancet ii:1008-1010, 1988.
- 10. Garutto RM, and Yase Y. Neurodegenerative disorders of the western pacific: the search for mechanisms of pathogenesis. Trends Neurosci. 9:368-374, 1986.
- 11. Crapper-Mclahlan DR, Krishnan SS, and Dalton AJ. Brain aluminum distribution in Alzheimer's and especially neurofibrillary degeneration. Science 180:511-513, 1973.
- 12. Foncin JF. Alzheimer's disease and aluminum. Nature (London) 326:136-137, 1987.
- 13. Martin RB. The chemistry of aluminum as related to biology and medicine. Clin. Chem. 32:1797-1806, 1986.
- 14. Touam M, Martinez F, Lacour B, Bourdon R, Zingraff J, DiGiulio S, and Drueke T. Aluminum-induced, reversible microcytic anemia in chronic renal failure: clinical and experimental studies. Clin. Nephrol. 19:295-298, 1983.

- 15. O'Hare JA, and Murnaghan DJ. Reversal of aluminum induced hemodialysis anemia by low-aluminum dialyzate. New Engl. J. Med. 306:654-656, 1982.
- 16. Elliot HL, MacDougall AI, and Fell GS. Aluminum toxicity syndrome. Lancet i:203, 1978.
- 17. Tielmans C, Collart F, Wens R, Smeyers-Verbeeke J, van Hooff I, Deatwa M, and Verbeelen D. Improvement in anemia with deferoxamine in hemodialysis patients with aluminum-induced bone disease. Clin. Nephrol. 24:237-241, 1985.
- Bia MJ, Cooper K, Schnall S, Duffy T, Hendler E, Malluche H, and Solomon L. Aluminum induced anemia: pathogenesis and treatment in patients on chronic hemodialysis. Kidney Int. 36:852-858, 1989.
- 19. Mladenovic J. Aluminum inhibits erythropoiesis in vitro. J. Clin. Invest. 81:1661-1665, 1988.
- 20. Cohran M, Coates J, and Neoh S. The competitive equilibrium between aluminum and ferric ions for the binding sites of transferrin. FEBS Lett. 176:129-132, 1984.
- 21. Cochran M, Neoh S, and Stephens E. Aluminum interaction with 67Ga uptake by human plasma and transferrin. Clin. Chim. Acta 132:199-203.
- 22. Alfrey AC. Aluminum intoxication. New Engl. J. Med. 310:1113-1115, 1984.
- Ott SM, Maloney NA, Coburn JW, Alfrey AC, and Sherrard DJ. The prevalence of bone aluminum deposition in renal osteodystrophy and its relation to the response of calcitriol therapy. New Engl. J. Med. 307:709-713, 1982.
- 24. Cournot-Witmer G, Zingraff J, Plachot JJ, Escaig F, LeFerre R, Boumati P, Bourdreau A, Garabedian M, Galle P, Bourdon R, Drueke T, and Balsan S. Aluminum localization in bone from hemodialyzed patients: relationship to matrix mineralization. Kidney Int. 20:375-385, 1981.
- 25. Lieuallen WG, and Weisbrode SE. Effects of systemic aluminum on the resolution of a uremic and dietary phosphorus-dependent model of uremic osteomalacia in rats. J. Bone Min. Res. 6:751-757, 1991.
- Hodsman AB, Sherrard DJ, Alfrey AC, Ott S, Brickman AS, Miller NL, Maloney NA, and Coburn JW. Bone aluminum and histomorphometric features of renal osteodystrophy. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 54:539-546, 1982.
- 27. Ellis HA, McCarthy JH, and Herrington J. Bone aluminum in haemodialysed patients and in rats injected with aluminum chloride: relationship to impaired mineralization. J. Clin. Pathol. 32:832-839, 1979.
- Robertson JA, Felsenfeld AJ, Haygood CC, Wilson P, Clarke C, and Llach F. An animal model of aluminum-induced osteomalacia: role of chronic renal failure. Kidney Int. 23:327-335.

- 29. Chan YL, Alfrey AC, Posen S, Lissner D, Hills E, Dunstan CR, and Evans RA. Effect of aluminum on normal and uremic rats: tissue distribution, vitamin D metabolites, and a quantitative bone histology. Calcif. Tissue Int. 35:344-351, 1983.
- 30. Quarles LD, Gitelman HJ, and Drezner MK. Editorial: aluminum-associated bone disease: what's in a name? J. Bone Min. Res.1:389-390, 1986.
- 31. Ward MK, Feest TG, Ellis HA, Parkinson IS, and Kerr DNS. Osteomalacic dialysis osteodystrophy: evidence for a water-borne etiological agent, probably aluminum. Lancet 1:841-845, 1978.
- 32. Boyce BF, Fell GS, Elder HY, Junior BJ, Elliot HL, Beastall G, Fogelman I, and Boyle IT. Hypercalcaemic osteomalacia due to aluminum toxicity. Lancet 2:1009-1013, 1982.
- Platts MM, Goode GC, and Hislop LS. Composition of the domestic water supply and the incidence of fractures and encephalopathy in patients on home dialysis. Br Med J 2:657-660, 1977.
- 34. Blumenthal NC, and Posner AS. *In vitro* model of aluminum-induced osteomalacia: inhibition of hydroxyapatite formation and growth. Calcif Tissue Int 36:439-441, 1984.
- 35. Maloney NA, Ott SM, Alfrey AC, Miller NL, Coburn JW, and Sherrard DJ. Histological quantitation of aluminum in iliac bone from patients with renal failure. J Lab Clin Med 99:206-216, 1982.
- Talwar HS, Reddi AH, Menczel J, Thomas WC Jr, and Meyer JL. Influence of aluminum on mineralization during matrix-induced bone development. Kidney Int. 29:1038-1042, 1986.
- Dunstan CR, Evans RA, Hills E, Wong SVP, and Alfrey AC. Effect of aluminum and parathyroid hormone on osteoblasts and bone mineralization in chronic renal failure. Calcif Tissue Int 36:133-138, 1984.
- Morrissey J, Rothstein M, Mayor G, and Slatopolsky E. Suppression of parathyroid hormone secretion by aluminum. Kidney Int. 23:699-704, 1983.
- 39. Charhon SA, Chavassieux PM, Chapuy MC, Traeger J, and Meunier PJ. Case report: high bone turnover associated with an aluminum-induced impairment of bone mineralization. Bone 7:319-324, 1986.
- 40. Mocetti P, Ballanti P, Della Rocca C, Costantini S, Giorano R, and Bonucci E. Aluminum presence in different types of renal osteodystrophy. Mineral Metabol. Res. Ital. 6:153-156, 1985.
- 41. Galceran T, Finch J, Bergfeld M, Coburn J, Martin K, Teitelbaum S, and Slatopolsky E. Biological effects of aluminum on normal dogs: studies on the isolated perfused bone. Endocrinology 121:406-413, 1987.

- 42. Quarles LD, Gitelman HJ, and Drezner MK. Induction of *de novo* bone formation in the Beagle. A novel effect of aluminum. J Clin Invest 81:1056-1066, 1988.
- 43. Quarles LD, Murphy G, Vogler JB, and Drezner MK. Aluminum-induced neoosteogenesis: a generalized process affecting trabecular networking in the axial skeleton. J Bone Min Res 5:625-635, 1990.
- 44. Quarles LD, Gitelman HJ, and Drezner MK. Aluminum-induced *de novo* bone formation in the Beagle. A parathyroid hormone-dependent event. J Clin Invest 83:1644-1650, 1989.
- 45. Wergedal JE, Lau K-HW, and Baylink DJ. Fluoride and bovine bone extract influence cell proliferation and phosphatase activities in human bone cell cultures. Clin. Orthopaed. Rel. Res. 233:274-282, 1988.
- 46. Lundy MW, Hendrix T, Wergedal JE, and Baylink DJ. Growth factor-induced proliferation of osteoblasts measured by bromodeoxyuridine immunocytochemistry. Growth Factors 4:257-264, 1991.
- 47. Finkelman RD, Mohan S, Linkhart TA, Abraham SM, Boussy JP, and Baylink DJ. PTH stimulates the proliferation of TE85 human osteosarcoma cells by a mechanism not involving either increased cAMP or increased secretion of IGF-I, IGF-II, or TGF-β. Bone Min. 16:80-100, 1992.
- 48. Jones TR, Antonetti DL, and Reid TW. Aluminum ions stimulate mitosis in murine cells in tissue culture. J Cell Biochem 30:31-39, 1986.
- 49. Smith JB. Aluminum ions stimulate DNA synthesis in quiescent cultures of swiss 3T3 cells. J Cell Physiol 118:298-304, 1984.
- 50. Quarles LD, Weinstrup RJ, Castillo SA, and Drezner MK. Aluminum-induced mitogenesis in MC3T3-E1 osteoblasts: potential mechanism underlying neo-osteogenesis. Endocrinology 128:3144-3151, 1991.
- 51. MacDonald TL, and Martin RB. Aluminum ion in biological systems. Trends in Biochem. Sci. 13:15-19, 1988.
- 52. Martin RB. The chemistry of aluminum as related to biology and medicine. Clin. Chem. 32:1797-1806, 1986.
- 53. Exley C, and Birchall JD. The cellular toxicity of aluminum. J. Theor. Biol. 159:83-98, 1992.
- 54. Birchall JD, and Chappell JS. The chemistry of aluminum and silicon in relation to Alzheimer's dosease. Clin. Chem. 34:265-267, 1988.
- 55. Kiss T, Sovago I. and Martin R.B. Al³⁺ binding by adenosine 5'-phosphates: AMP, ADP, and ATP. Inorg. Chem. 30:2130-2132, 1991.
- 56. Akeson M, and Munns DN. Uptake of aluminum into root cytoplasm: predicted rates for important solution complexes. J. Plant Nutr. 13:467-484, 1990.

- 57. Deloncle R, Guillard O, Clanet F, Courtois P, and Pirious A. Aluminum transfer through the blood brain barrier as glutamate complex. Possible implication in dialysis encephalopathy. Biol. Trace Elem. Res. 25:39-45, 1990.
- 58. Exley C, Chappell JS, and Birchall JD. A mechanism of acute aluminum toxicity in fish. J. Theor. Biol. 151:417-428, 1991.
- 59. Viersta R, and Haug A. The effect of Al³⁺ on the physical properties of membrane lipids in *Thermoplasma acidophilum*. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 84:138-143, 1978.
- 60. Abreo K, Glass J, and Sella M.L. Aluminum inhibits haemoglobin synthesis but enhances iron uptake in Friend erythroleukemia cells. Kidney Int. 37:677-681, 1990.
- 61. Kasai K, Hori MT, and Goodman WG. Transferrin enhances the antiproliferative effect of aluminum on osteoblast-like cells. Am. J. Physiol. 260:E537-E543, 1991.
- 62. Cochran M, Chawtur V, Jones ME, and Marshall EA. Iron uptake by human reticulocytes at physiologic and sub-physiologic concentrations of iron transferrin: the effect of interaction with aluminum transferrin. Blood 77:2347-2353, 1991.
- 63. Ganrot PG. Metabolism and possible health effects of aluminum. Env. Health Perspect. 65:363-442, 1986.
- 64. Lange AJ, Arion WJ, Burchell A, and Burchell B. Aluminum ions are required for stabilization and inhibition of hepatic microsomal glucose-6-phosphatase by sodium fluoride. J. Biol. Chem. 261:101-107, 1986.
- 65. Housley PR. Aluminum fluoride inhibition of glucocorticoid receptor inactivation and transformation. Biochemistry 29:3578-3585, 1990.
- 66. Lieberherr M, Grosse B, Cournot-Witmer G, Thil CL, and Balsan S. *In vitro* effects of aluminum on bone phosphatases: a possible interaction with bPTH and vitamin D₃ metabolites. Calcif. Tissue Int. 34:280-284, 1982.
- 67. Bellorin-Font E, Weaver ME, Stokes TJ, Jr, McConkey C, Jr, Slatopolsky E, and Martin KJ. Effects of aluminum on bovine parathyroid adenylate cyclase. Endocrinology 117:1456-1461, 1985.
- 68. Boyer JL, Waldo GL, Evans T, Northup JK, Downes CP, and Harden TK. Modification of ALF_4^{-} and receptor-stimulated phospholipase C activity by G-protein $\beta\tau$ subunits. J. Biol. Chem. 264:13917-13922, 1989.
- 69. Marc S, Leiber D, and Harbon S. Fluoroaluminates mimic muscarinic-and oxytocin-receptor-mediated generation of inositol phosphates and contraction in the intact guinea-pig myometrium. Role for a pertussis/cholera-toxin-insensitive G protein. Biochem J. 255:705-713, 1988.

- 70. Woods NM, Dixon CJ, Cuthbertson KSR, and Cobbold PH. Fluoroaluminate mimics agonist application in single rat hepatocytes. Biochem. J. 265:613-615, 1990.
- 71. Johnson GVM, and Jope RS. Aluminum impairs glucose ultilisation and cholinergic activity in rat brain *in vitro*. Toxicology 40:93-102.
- 72. Schofl C, Sanchez-Bueno A, Dixon CJ, Woods NM, Lee AC, Kuthbertson KSR, Cobbold PH, and Birchall JD. Aluminum perturbs oscillatory phosphinositide-mediated calcium signalling in hormone-stimulated hepatocytes. Biochem J. 269: 547-550, 1990.
- 73. Roll M, Banin E, and Meiri H. Differentiated neuroblastoma cells are more susceptible to aluminum toxicity than developing cells. Arch. Toxicol. 63:231-237, 1989.
- Shears SB, Dawson AP, Loomis-Husselbee JW, and Cullen PJ. The perturbation by aluminum of receptor-generated calcium transients in hepacytes is not due to effects of Ins(1,4,5)P3-stimulated Ca²⁺ release or Ins(1,4,5)P3 metabolism by the 5-phosphatase and 3-kinase. Biochem. J. 270:837-839, 1990.
- 75. Wakui M, Itaya K, Birchall JD, and Petersen OH. Intracellular aluminum inhibits acetylcholine- and caffeine-evoked Ca²⁺ mobilisation. FEBS Lett. 267:301-304, 1990.
- 76. Albrecht J, and Norenberg MD. Aluminum chloride stimulates NaCl-dependent release of tarine and τ -aminobutyric acid in rat cortical astrocytes. Neurochem. Int. 18:125-129, 1991.
- 77. Mertz LM, Horn VJ, Baum BJ, and Ambudkar IS. Calcium entry in rat parotoid acini: activation by carbachol and aluminum fluoride. Am. J. Physiol. 258:C654-C661, 1990.
- 78. Shuttleworth TJ. Fluoroaluminate activation of different components of the calcium signal in an exocrine cell. Biochem. J. 269:417-422, 1990.
- 79. Huang Y-P, and Bittat EE. Protection by GTP from the effects of aluminum on the sodium efflux in barnacle muscle fibres. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1062:255-263, 1991.
- 80. Meiri H, and Shimoni Y. Effects of aluminum on electrical and mechanical properties of frog atrial muscle. Br. J. Pharmacol. 102:483-491, 1991.
- 81. Lau K-HW, Yoo A, and Wang SP. Aluminum stimulates the proliferation and differentiation of osteoblasts *in vitro* by a mechanism that is different from fluoride. Molec. Cell. Biochem. 105:93-105, 1991.
- 82. Berridge MJ. Inositol triphosphate and diacylglycerol: two interacting second messengers. Ann. Rev. Biochem. 56:159-193, 1987.
- 83. Johnson GVW, Cogdill KW, and Jope RS. Oral aluminum alters *in vitro* protein phosphorylation and kinase activities in rat brain. Neurobiol. of Aging 11:209-216, 1990.

- Koenig ML, and Jope RS. Aluminum inhibits the fast phase of voltagedependent calcium influx into synaptosomes. J. Neurochem. 49:316-320, 1987.
- 85. Bigay J, Deterre P, Pfister C, and Chabre M. Fluoride complexes of aluminum or beryllium act on G-proteins as reversibly bound analogues of the τ phosphate of GTP. EMBO J. 6:2907-2913, 1987.
- 86. Sternweis PC, and Gilman AG. Aluminum: a requirement for activation of the regulatory component of adenylate cyclase by fluoride, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 79:4888-4891, 1982.
- 87. Paris S, Chambard J-C, and Pouyssegur J. Tyrosine kinase-activating growth factors potentiate thrombin-and AlF_4^- -induced phosphoinositide breakdown in hamster fibroblasts. Evidence for positive cross-talk between the two mitogenic signaling pathways. J. Biol. Chem. 263:12893-12900, 1988.
- 88. Blackmore PF, and Exton JH. Studies on the hepatic calcium-mobilizing activity of aluminum fluoride and glucagon. Modulation by cAMP and phorbol myristate acetate. J. Biol. Chem. 261:11056-11063, 1986.
- 89. Miller JL, Hubbard CM, Litman BJ, and MacDonald TL. Inhibition of transducin activation and guanosine triphosphatase activity by aluminum ion. J. Biol. Chem. 264:243-250, 1989.
- 90. Hazlett TI, Higashijima T, and Jameson DM. An aluminum fluoride binding site was not detected on elongation factor Tu GDP. Biophys. J. 57:289a, 1990.
- 91. Kraal B, De Graaf JM, van Hoof PJM, Jacquet E, and Parmeggiani A. Fluoroaluminates do not affect the guanine-nucleotide binding centre of the peptide chain elongation factor EF-Tu. Eur. J. Biochem. 192:305-309, 1990.
- 92. Farley SMG, Wergedal JE, Smith LC, Lundy MW, Farley JR, and Baylink DJ. fluoride therapy for osteoporosis: characterization of the skeletal response by serial measurements of serum alkaline phosphatase activity. Metabolism 36:211-218, 1987.
- 93. Briancon D, and Meunier PJ. Treatment of osteoporosis with fluoride, calcium, and vitamin D. Orthop. Clin. North Am. 12:629-648, 1981.
- 94. Harrison JE, McNeill KG, Sturtridge WC, Bayley TA, Murray TM, Williams C, Tam C, and Fornasier V. Three-year changes in bone mineral mass of osteoporotic patients based on neutron activation analysis of the central third of the skeleton. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metabol. 52:751-758, 1981.
- 95. Farley JR, Wergedal JE, and Baylink DJ. Fluoride directly stimulates proliferation and alkaline phosphatase activity of bone forming cells. Science 222:330-332, 1983.

- 96. Hall BK. Sodium fluoride as an initiator of osteogenesis from embryonic mesenchyme *in vitro*. Bone 8:111-116, 1987.
- 97. Reed BY, Zerwek JE, Antich PP, and Pak CYC. Fluoride-stimulated [³H]thymidine uptake in a human osteoblastic osteosarcoma cell line is dependent on transforming growth factor β. J. Bone Min. Res. 8:19-25, 1993.
- Selz T, Caverzasio J, and Bonjour JP. Fluoride selectively stimulates Nadependent phosphate transport in osteoblast-like cells. Am. J. Physiol. 260:E833-E838, 1991.
- 99. Oguro A, Koizumi N, and Horii K. Effect of fluoride ion on proliferation of Vero cell line cells: growth acceleration by sodium fluoride. Koku Eisei Gakkai Zasshi 31:55-62, 1982.
- 100. Lau K-HW, Farley JR, Freeman TK, and Baylink DJ. A proposed mechanism of the mitogenic action of fluoride on bone cells: inhibition of the activity of an osteoblastic acid phosphatase. Metabolism 38:858-868, 1989.
- 101. Farley JR, Tarbaux N, Hall S, and Baylink DJ. Evidence that fluoridestimulated ³[H]-thymidine incorporation in embryonic chick calvarial cell cultures is dependent on the presence of a bone cell mitogen, sensitive to changes in the phosphate concentration, and modulated by systemic skeletal effectors. Metabolism 37:988-995, 1988.
- 102. Lau K-HW, Farley JR, and Baylink DJ. Phosphotyrosyl specific protein phosphatase activity of a bovine skeletal acid phosphatase isoenzyme: comparison with the phosphotyrosyl protein phosphatase activity of skeletal alkaline phosphtase. J. Biol. Chem. 260:4653-4660, 1985.
- 103. Lau K-HW, Freeman TK, and Baylink DJ. Purification and characterization of a tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase that displays neutral pH phosphotyrosyl protein phosphatase activity from bovine cortical bone matrix. J. Biol. Chem. 262:1389-1397, 1987.
- 104. Sefton BM. The role of tyrosine protein kinases in the action of growth factors. In: Control of Animal Cell Proliferation, Vol. I, p. 315-334, Boynton AL, and Leffert HL, eds., Academic Press, Orlando, 1985.
- 105. Lau K-HW, Farley JR, and Baylink DJ. Phosphotyrosyl protein phosphatases. Biochem. J. 257:23-36, 1989.
- Lau K-HW, and Baylink DJ. Phosphotyrosyl protein phosphatases: potential regulators of cell proliferation and differentiation. Crit. Rev. Oncogenesis 4:451-471, 1993.
- 107. Thomas AB, Baylink DJ, and Lau K-HW. Fluoride-induced mitogenesis of human bone cells is associated with tyrosyl phosphorylation of 5 cellular proteins of molecular sizes from 32-120 kD. J. Bone Min. Res. 6(Suppl. 1):S141 abstract 232, 1991.

- 108. Lau K-HW, Tanimoto H, and Baylink DJ. Vanadate stimulates bone cell proliferation and bone collagen synthesis *in vitro*. Endocrinology 123:2858-2867, 1988.
- 109. Tremollieres FA, Strong DD, Baylink DJ, and Mohan S. Progesterone and promegestone stimulate human bone cell proliferation and insulin-like growth factor-2 production. Acta Endocrinol. 126:329-337, 1992.
- 110. Finkelman RD, Bell NH, Strong DD, Demers LM, and Baylink DJ. Ovariectomy selectively reduces the concentration of transforming growth factor β in rat bone: implications for estrogen deficiencyassociated bone loss. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 89:12190-12193, 1992.
- Scharla SH, Strong DD, Mohan S, Baylink DJ, and Linkhart TA. 1,25
 Dihydroxyvitamin D₃ differentially regulates the production of IGF-I and IGFBP-4 in mouse osteoblasts. Endocrinology 129:3139-3142, 1991.
- 112. Kasperk C, Fitzsimmons R, Strong D, Mohan S, Jennings J, Wergedal J, and Baylink DJ. Studies of mechanism by which androgens enhance mitogenesis and differentiation in bone cells. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metabol. 71:1322-1329, 1990.
- 113. Fitzsimmons RJ, Strong DD, Mohan S, and Baylink DJ. Low-amplitude, lowfrequency electric field-stimulated bone cell proliferation may in part be mediated by increased IGF-II release. J. Cell. Physiol. 150:84-89, 1992.
- 114. Mohan S, Linkhart TA, Jennings JC, and Baylink DJ. Identification of five distinct growth factors in human bone matrix. First Symposium of the Protein Society p. 54, abstract 1026, 1987.
- 115. Linkhart TA, and Keffer MJ. Differential regulation of insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I) and IGF-II release from cultured neonatal mouse calvaria by parathyroid hormone, transforming growth factor-β, and 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D₃. Endocrinology 128:1511-1518, 1991.
- 116. Bautista CM, Mohan S, and Baylink DJ. Insulin-like growth factors I and II are present in the skeletal tissues of ten vertebrates. Metabolism 39:96-100, 1990.
- 117. Jennings JC, Mohan S, Linkhart TA, Widstrom R, and Baylink DJ. Comparison of the biological actions of TGF β1 and TGF β2: differential activity in endothelial cells. J. Cell. Physiol. 137:167-172, 1988.
- Lyons R, Gentry LE, Parchio AF, and Moses HL. Mechanism of activation of latent recombinant transforming growth factor β1 by plasmin. J. Cell Biol. 100:1361-1367, 1990.
- 119. Bell GI, Merryweather JP, Sanchez-Pescador R, Pristley L, Scott J, and Rall LB. Sequence of a cDNA encoding human preproinsulin-like growth factor-II. Nature 310:775-776, 1984.

- 120. Mohan S, and Baylink DJ. Bone growth factors. Clin. Orthopaed. Rel. Res. 263:30-48, 1991.
- 121. Wergedal JE, Mohan S, Lundy M, and Baylink DJ. Skeletal growth factor and other growth factors known to be present in bone matrix stimulate proliferation and protein synthesis in human bone cells. J. Bone Min. Res. 5:179-186, 1990.
- 122. Linkhart SG, Mohan S, Linkhart TA, Kumegawa M, and Baylink DJ. Human skeletal growth factor stimulates collagen synthesis and inhibits proliferation on a clonal osteoblast cell line (MC3T3-E1). J. Cell. Physiol. 128:307-312, 1986.
- 123. Linkhart TA, and Mohan S. Parathyroid hormone stimulates release of insulinlike growth factor-I (IGF-I) and IGF-II from neonatal mouse calvaria in organ culture. Endocrinology 125:1484-1489, 1989.
- 124. Gray TK, Mohan S, Linkhart TA, and Baylink DJ. Estradiol stimulates *in vitro* the secretion of insulin-like growth factors by the clonal osteoblastic cell line, UMR106. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 158:407-412, 1989.
- 125. Mohan S, Bautista CM, Herring SJ, Linkhart TA, and Baylink DJ. Development of valid methods to measure insulin-like growth factor-I and II in bone cell conditioned medium. Endocrinology 126:2534-2542, 1990.
- 126. Baxter RC, and Martin JL. Binding proteins for the insulin-like growth factors: structure, regulation and function. Prog. Growth Factor Res. 1:49-58, 1989.
- 127. Ooi GT, and Herrington AC. The biological and structural characterization of specific serum binding proteins for the insulin-like growth factors. J. Endocrinol. 118:7-11, 1988.
- 128. Brewer MT, Stetler GL, Squires CH, Thompson RC, Busby WH, and Clemmons DR. Cloning, characterization, and expression of a human insulin-like growth factor binding protein. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 152:1289-1292, 1988.
- 129. Brown AL, Chiariotti L, Orlowski CC, Mehlman T, Burgess WH, Ackerman EJ, Brun CB, and Rechler MM. Nucleotide sequence and expression of a cDNA clone encoding a fetal rat binding protein for insulin-like growth factors. J. Biol. Chem. 264:5148-5151, 1989.
- 130. Wood WI, Cachianes G, Henzel WJ, Winslow GA, Spencer SA, Hellmiss R, Martin JL, and Baxter RC. Cloning and expression of the growth hormone-dependent insulin-like growth factor binding protein. Mol. Endocrinol. 2:1176-1181, 1988.
- 131. LaTour D, Mohan S, Linkhart TA, Baylink DJ, and Strong DD. Inhibitory insulin-like growth factor-binding protein: cloning, complete sequence, and physiological regulation. Molec. Endocrinol. 4:1806-1814, 1990.

- 132. Bautista CM, Baylink DJ, and Mohan S. Isolation of a novel insulin-like growth factor binding protein from human bone: a potential candidate for fixing IGF-II in human bone. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 176:756-763, 1991.
- 133. Elgin RG, Busby WH, Jr, and Clemmons DR. An insulin-like growth factor (IGF) binding protein enhances the biologic response to IGF-I. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 84:3254-3259, 1987.
- 134. Ritvos O, Ranta T, Jalkanen J, Suikkari AM, and Voutilainen R. Insulin-like growth factor (IGF) binding protein from human decidua inhibits the binding and biological action of IGF-I in cultured choriocarcinoma cells. Endocrinology 122:2150-2156, 1988.
- 135. De Mellow JSM, and Baxter RC. Growth hormone-dependent insulin-like growth factor (IGF) binding protein both inhibits and potentiates IGF-I stimulated DNA synthesis in human skin fibroblasts. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 156:199-204, 1988.
- 136. Puzas JE, Drivdahl RH, Howard GA, and Baylink DJ. Endogenous inhibitor of bone cell proliferation. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 166:113-122, 1981.
- 137. Wergedal JE, and Baylink DJ. Characterization of cells isolated and cultured from human bone. Proc. Soc. Expl. Biol. Med. 176:27-31, 1984.
- 138. Rhim JS, Cho HY, and Huebner RJ. Non-producer human cells induced by murine sarcoma virus. Int. J. Cancer 15:23-29, 1975.
- Gospodarowicz D, Bialecki H, and Greenburg G. Purification of the fibroblast growth factor activity from bovine brain. J. Biol. Chem. 253:3736-3741, 1978.
- 140. Lau K-HW, Lee MY, Linkhart TA, Mohan S, Vermeiden J, Liu CC, and Baylink DJ. A mouse tumor-derived osteolytic factor stimulates bone resorption by a mechanism involving local prostaglandins production in bone. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 840:56-68, 1985.
- 141. Farley JR, Fitzsimmons R, Taylor AK, Jorch UM, and Lau K-HW. Direct effects of ethanol on bone resorption and formation *in vitro*. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 238:305-314, 1985.
- 142. Farley JR, and Jorch UM. Differential effects of phospholipids on skeletal alkaline phosphatase activity in extracts, in situ and in circulation. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 221:477-488, 1983.
- 143. Thomas PS, and Farquhar MN. Specific measurement of DNA in nuclei and nucleic acids using diaminobenzoic acid. Anal. Biochem. 89:35-44, 1978.
- 144. Lowry OH, Rosebrough NJ, Farr AL, and Randall RJ. Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent. J. Biol. Chem. 193:265-275, 1951.

DNIVERSITY LIBRARY LOMA LINDA, CALIFORNIA

- 145. Beresford JN, Gallagher JA, and Russell RGG. 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D₃ and human bone-derived cells in vitro: effects on alkaline phosphatase, type I collagen and proliferation. Endocrinology 119:1776-1785, 1986.
- 146. Peterkofsky B. The effect of ascorbic acid on collagen polypeptide synthesis and proline hydroxylation during the growth of cultured fibroblasts. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 152:318-328, 1972.
- 147. Taylor AK, Linkhart SG, Mohan S, and Baylink DJ. Development of a new radioimmunoassay for human osteocalcin: evidence for a midmolecule epitope. Metabolism 37:872-877, 1988.
- 148. Price PA, and Baukol SA. 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ increases synthesis of the vitamin K-dependent bone protein by osteosarcoma cells. J. Biol. Chem. 255:11660-11663, 1980.
- 149. Farley JR, and Baylink DJ. Skeletal alkaline phosphatase activity as a bone formation index *in vitro*. Metabolism 35:563-571, 1986.
- 150. Price PA, Parthemore JG, and Deftos LJ. New biochemical marker for bone metabolism. Measurement by radioimmunoassay of bone GLA protein in the plasma of normal subjects and patients with bone disease. J. Clin. Invest. 66:878-838, 1980.
- 151. Litosch I. Regulatory GTP-binding proteins: emerging concepts on their role in cell function. Life Sci. 41:251-258, 1987.
- 152. Evans DB, Russell RGG, Brown BL, and Dobson PRM. Agents affecting adenylate cyclase activity modulate the stimulatory action of 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D_3 on the production of osteocalcin by human bone cells. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 164:1076-1085, 1989.
- 153. Lau K-HW, Utrapiromsuk S, Yoo A, Mohan S, Strong DD, and Baylink DJ. Mechanism of mitogenic action of aluminum ion on human bone cells: potential involvement of the insulin-like growth factor regulatory system. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 303:267-273, 1993.
- 154. Mohan S, and Baylink DJ. Evidence that the inhibition of TE85 human bone cell proliferation by agents which stimulate cAMP production may in part be mediated by changes in the IGF-II regulatory system. Growth Regulation 1:110-118, 1991.